Biosimilarity assessment of biopharmaceuticals for quality control

INAUGURAL-DISSERTATION

to obtain the academic degree Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.) submitted to the Department of Biology, Chemistry and Pharmacy of Freie Universität Berlin

by

Othman Montacir from Casablanca

September 2018

This work was conducted from 01.04.2014 to 30.09.2018 at the Institute of Pharmacy, Department of Biology, Chemistry, Pharmacy, Freie Universität Berlin under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr.

1st Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr 2nd Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Stephan Hinderlich

Date of defense: 04th February 2019

ب- الالرخ الحيم بب- الالرخ الحيم

وماأوشيتهم العيار الأقليلا

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Parr and Prof. Dr. Hinderlich for helping me to design and execute this work in their laboratory and for all their support and supervision during my PhD thesis.

Avicenna-Studienwerk, Osnabrück, Germany is acknowledged for granting my PhD scholarship. Many thanks also to AryoGen Pharmed for donation of originators and biosimilars.

Thanks for the colleagues Dr. Murat Eravci, Dr. Andreas Springer, Dr. Chris Weise, Dr. Andreas Schäfer and Dr. Peter Witte for their analytical support. Special thanks to Dr. Fereidoun Mahboudi for his support throughout the time.

Many thanks to the group members of the research group of AG Parr.

I would like to thank my friends for their friendship and support throughout the time.

I am grateful to my parents, my sister and two brothers, who supported me and always had been a blessing in my life.

I thank my wife Houda for her endless support and love and for our lovely daughter Sophia. I dedicate this work to you both.

Table of contents

Acknowledgement	IV
List of Abbreviations	VII
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Terminology of Biopharmaceuticals	1
1.2 Biopharmaceuticals	1
1.3 Structure of mAbs	3
1.4 Biosimilarity	3
1.4.1 Biosimilars	3
1.4.2 CMC Development	4
1.4.3 Setting Specifications	5
1.4.4 Comparability Study	6
1.5 Post-translational Modifications (PTMs)	7
1.5.1 N-Terminal Modifications	9
1.5.2 C-Terminal Modifications	11
1.5.3 Deamidation	11
1.5.4 Oxidation	12
1.5.5 Glycation	12
1.5.6 γ -Carboxylation and β -Hydroxylation	13
1.5.7 Glycosylation	13
1.5.7.1 N-Glycosylation	14
1.5.7.2 O-Glycosylation	15
1.5.7.3 Functional Impact of Glycans on Recombinant Glycoproteins	15
1.6 Molecular Structure Analysis	18
2 Scope of Work	<u>19</u>
3 Publications	20
3.1 Physicochemical Characterization of Biopharmaceuticals	20
3.2 Comparability Study of Rituximab Originator and Follow-on Biopharmaceutical	45
3.3 Bioengineering of rFVIIa Biopharmaceutical and Structure Characterization for	
Biosimilarity Assessment	60
3.4 Physicochemical Characterization, Glycosylation Pattern and Biosimilarity	
Assessment of the Fusion Protein Etanercept	78
4 Personal Contribution	<u>96</u>
5 Conclusion and Future Perspectives	<u>97</u>

<u>6 Abstract</u>	99
7 Zusammenfassung	101
8 References	103
9 List of Peer-Reviewed Publications	118
10 Abstract/Posters	119
11 Curriculum Vitae	120
12 Declaration	122

List of Abbreviations

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity				
ВНК	Baby hamster kidney				
CDC	Complement-dependent cytotoxicity				
CE-MS	Capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry				
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary				
CQA	Critical quality attributes				
СМС	Chemistry, manufacturing and controls				
CDRs	Complementarity-determining regions				
СН	Heavy chain constant domain				
CL	Light chain constant domain				
EPO	Erythropoietin				
E. coli	Escherichia coli				
Fab	Antigen-binding fragment				
FVIIa	Activated factor VII				
FDA	Food and Drug Administration				
Fc region	Fragment crystallizable region				
FcRn	Fragment crystallizable region receptor				
Fuc	Fucose				
Gal	Galactose				
Gla	γ-carboxyglutamate				
GlcNAc	N-acetylglucosamin				
GalNAc	N-acetylgalactosamin				
cGMP	Current Good Manufacturing Practice				
НС	Heavy chain				
hFSH	Human follicle-stimulating hormone				
HOS	Higher order structure				
Нуа	β-hydroxyaspartate				
Hyn	β-hydroxyasparagine				
ICH	International Conference on Harmonisation of				
	Technical Requirements for Registration of				
	Pharmaceuticals for Human Use				

IgG	Immunoglobulin		
IdeS	Immunoglobulin-degrading enzyme from Streptococcus		
	pyogenes		
LC	Light chain		
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry		
mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies		
MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS	Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time-of-		
	Flight Mass spectrometry		
MS	Mass spectrometry		
nLC-ESI-MS/MS	nano Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Ionization-		
	Mass Spectrometry		
Neu5Ac	N-acetylneuraminic acid		
Neu5Gc	N-glycolylneuraminic acid		
NS0	Nonsecreting murine myeloma		
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance		
PTMs	Post-translational modifications		
Pyro-Glu	Pyroglutamate		
TNFR	Tumor necrosis factor receptor		
TWIMS	Traveling wave ion-mobility spectrometry		
UHPLC-QTOF-MS ^E	Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography		
	Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry		
UHPLC-IMS	Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography Io		
	Mobility Spectrometry		
VH	Heavy chain variable domain		
VL	Light chain variable domain		

1 Introduction

1.1 Terminology of biopharmaceuticals

Descriptions such as 'biologic', 'biotechnology medicines' and 'products of pharmaceutical biotechnology' or 'biopharmaceutical' are all terms commonly written in the pharmaceutical literature. However, these pharmaceutical terminologies are used interchangeably but according to Walsh [1] define different terms to different subjects.

The term 'biologic' might be referred to any biotechnology-derived pharmaceutical product. However, in the pharmaceutical sector it is applied to medicinal products that are isolated from blood, as well as toxins, vaccines and allergen products. However, this strict definition does not include some traditional biotechnology-derived pharmaceutical products such as hormones, antibiotics and plant metabolites [1].

Most of the recently approved biopharmaceuticals represent drugs that are produced by biotechnological processes involving recombinant DNA. In accordance with the Merriam-Webster's definition, "biotechnology" means "the manipulation (as through genetic engineering) of living organisms or their components to produce useful, usually commercial, products. The term "biopharmaceutical" defines "a pharmaceutical derived from biological sources and especially one produced by biotechnology". Hence, the terms "biotechnology-derived" and "biopharmaceutical" can be used interchangeably to define biologics manufactured by genetically altered living system [2].

1.2 Biopharmaceuticals

Nowadays, biopharmaceuticals represent one of the main pillars of industrial biotechnology and are the fastest growing and exciting field within the pharmaceutical sector. The term 'biopharmaceutical' was first used in the 1980s to describe a revolutionary class of protein-based drugs, manufactured by genetic engineering with modern biotechnological techniques. In 1982, Humulin[®], a recombinant DNA-derived human insulin manufactured in *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) developed by Genentech and Eli Lilly, has received approval in the United States [3]. After reaching a production volume of 40,000 L, the era of large-scale cell culture started to appear [4]. Since highly glycosylated biopharmaceuticals like tissue plasminogen activator, erythropoietin (EPO), and factor VIII cannot be produced in *E. coli*, mammalian cells became the gold standard in modern pharmaceutical biotechnology later [5].

Köhler and Milstein developed monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) as biopharmaceuticals to treat rheumatoid arthritis and cancer in 1990s [4]. Invention of mAbs as a pharmaceutical resource

resulted not only in the production of the first therapeutical antibody, Orthoclone OKT3, of Johnson & Johnson in 1986, but also the development and approval of other mAb-based biopharmaceuticals to treat rheumatoid arthritis and cancer [4]. The first mAb (OKT3) possesses a murine structure, however, eight years later Eli Lilly launched the first chimeric antibody fragment ReoPro[®], which was followed by another chimeric mAb (Fig. 1) with the name Rituxan[®]/Mabthera[®] (Roche/Biogen Idec). Afterwards, the first humanized antibody Zenapax[®] (Roche) was approved in 1997. Finally, Abbott introduced the technology for fully human mAb with its biotherapeutic Humira[®] in 2002.

The pharmaceutical industry is changing due to the clinical and commercial progress of biopharmaceuticals such as mAbs and recombinant endogenous proteins. In 2009 six products, namely Enbrel[®], Rituxan[®], Remicade[®], Humira[®], Avastin[®], and Herceptin[®], were the top blockbusters in the pharmaceutical market with annual sales of more than US\$ 30 billion [4, 6-9]. In 2023, the biopharmaceuticals global sales market is expected to reach US\$ 341.16 billion [10].



Nature Reviews | Drug Discovery

Figure 1. **Antibody engineering.** Antibody engineering starts with mouse hybridoma technology, which generates mouse mAbs. Genetic engineering enables generation of chimeric, humanized and human antibodies. Cloning of mouse variable genes into human constant-region genes revealed chimeric antibodies, whereas humanized antibodies are generated by the insertion of CDRs onto human constant and variable domain frameworks. Fully human antibodies can be produced by selection of human antibody fragments from *in vitro* libraries, and by selection from human hybridomas [11].

The classical lock-and-key model of pharmacological action is mainly described by small molecules, mostly acting as antagonists of key binding. Same mode of action can be performed with biomolecules, but its pharmacology is often more diverse. In hormone and enzyme replacement therapy, the biomolecule may play the key (ligand binding) or could react as a lock (an extracellular portion of a receptor), playing a major role in decoy therapy. Furthermore, it can even play a crucial role during enzymatic cascade processes [12].

The submitted dissertation depicts three different biopharmaceuticals called Rituximab, Etanercept and activated factor VII (FVIIa) with different modes of action. While Rituximab reacts as chimeric mAb directed against CD20 surface antigen of B lymphocytes in the Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, Etanercept functions as a competitive inhibitor of TNF α , a major proinflammatory cytokine. This decoy therapy prevents TNF α from binding to its physiological receptor on the cell surface. Finally, FVIIa is used in replacement therapy, where it could directly activate the final common steps of the coagulation cascade [12].

1.3 Structure of mAbs

The predominantly marketed pharmaceutical mAb are of the immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) type. IgG2 and IgG4 represent only a minor part of mAb-based therapeutics. Since IgG3 has a short half-life, susceptibility to proteolysis in the hinge region and extensive allotypic polymorphism, it is still not used as a pharmaceutical mAb [13]. The fragment crystallizable region (Fc) and two identical antigen-binding fragments (Fabs), which are connected via a flexible hinge region, are responsible for IgG's function. The complementarity-determining regions (CDRs), located in the variable regions of light chain (LC) and heavy chain (HC) play a major role in antigen binding. The Fc domain protects the whole mAb from degradation, ensures a long half-life and interacts with the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn). Furthermore, Fc domains of IgG1 and IgG3 bind to various $Fc\gamma$ receptors and other components of the immune system, such as complement proteins, resulting in immune-mediated effector functions [14].

1.4 Biosimilarity

1.4.1 Biosimilars

A biosimilar is defined as a medicinal product that is highly similar to an already approved reference product. Apart from minor variations in clinically inactive components there should be no clinically meaningful differences between follow-on and reference medicinal product concerning safety, purity and potency. Taken this definition in consideration, a biopharmaceutical is biosimilar to a reference biodrug if it is highly similar to the reference product in safety, purity and potency. While purity is related to some critical quality attributes (CQA) within the manufacturing process, the potency is depending on stability and efficacy of the biosimilar medicinal product [15].

Unlike generics of chemical drugs, which have clearly defined manufacturing processes and generally do not require preclinical and only abbreviated procedures in clinical trials for regulatory approval, biopharmaceuticals cannot be generic due to the biological system used for its production. Complexity of the manufacturing process of the biopharmaceutical itself and structural complexity of the molecule make an exact copy of a biopharmaceutical impossible. Therefore, follow-on products require clinical trial data to demonstrate their biosimilarity [2, 16]. Demonstration of molecular and biological similarity of biosimilars and their reference products by chemistry, manufacturing and controls (CMC) comparison is indispensable. But the totality-of-the-evidence approach (comparability data of CMC, nonclinical and clinical studies) can ensure biosimilarity and approval of a follow-on biodrug [2, 17].

1.4.2 CMC Development

The manufacturing process of follow-on medicinal products begins with the development of a cell line. As an expression system three expression systems (bacteria, yeast and mammalian cells) are usually selected in biotechnological industry. After insertion of the appropriate DNA sequence, cell screening and selection is performed to establish a desirable cell bank [18], which should be comprehensively characterized to demonstrate microbiological purity and identity of the biopharmaceuticals [19]. Establishment of a robust and scalable up-stream and down-stream process is indispensable. However, achievement of high yields requires optimization of culture media and growth conditions and efficient extraction and recovery procedures. This should be accompanied with in-process verification, which serves to increase productivity without alteration of primary sequence (amino acid sequence) and post-Solubilization translational modifications (PTMs). and refolding of insoluble biopharmaceuticals are essential for therapeutic proteins, which could aggregate during the manufacturing process. In addition, variations in cell bank and manufacturing processes might cause impurities that are different from the reference biopharmaceutical. Down-stream

processing needs to remove all possible impurities such as host-cell proteins, DNA, viruses, medium constituents and metabolic byproducts [15, 18].

Clinical and commercial use of each batch of biotechnology medicines should be tested in compliance with current good manufacturing practice (cGMP) to ensure good drug characterization with respect to identity, potency, quality, purity, and safety. Pre-defined specifications of the biopharmaceutical product need to be assured. Especially, purity is often assessed by multiple assays, which investigate product-related variants (biologically active) or product-related impurities (biologically inactive). Hence, setting up product specification is crucial for a biosimilar development within the variation of the reference biopharmaceutical for guality control and assurance [15, 20]. Every manufacturing batch should be investigated for biopharmaceutical product characterization, which include amino acid sequence, isoform profiles, product variants, heterogeneity, product and process-impurities and higher order structures (HOS).

1.4.3 Setting Specifications

Specifications of the medical product are consisting of multiple CQA, which are essential elements to draw a quality-by-design approach. ICH (International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use) Q8 (R2) on pharmaceutical development points out the following regarding CQA, distributions, and limits: "A CQA is a physical, chemical, biological, or microbiological property or characteristic that should be within an appropriate limit, range, or distribution to ensure the desired product quality" [21]. According to Alt et al. the assessment of CQA of drug substance is based on the impact of the quality attribute on potency, safety and immunogenicity [21, 22].

Final biopharmaceutical CQA may be influenced by manufacturing process conditions Therefore, the definition and assessment of biopharmaceutical CQA is crucial, even if they are not directly connected to drug substance or drug product process performance. Since process parameters have a substantial impact on product-related substances or product-related impurities, ICH guidance Q8(R2) and Q11 on development and manufacture of drug substances (Chemical entities and biotechnological/biological entities) state that correlation between process and drug substance's CQA should be extensively analyzed and determined during process development [21, 23].

The purpose of COA assessment is defining the influence of a specific alteration on bioactivity, pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics, immunogenicity and safety in a systematic and rational manner. In biosimilarity assessment, the comparability protocol should contain a risk assessment study to demonstrate the effects of proposed changes on all product CQA. Despite the non-CQA may not impact directly the product, they must still be considered in comparability for monitoring process robustness and consistency. As mentioned in several guidelines the structure-activity relationship and the correlation between quality attributes and safety and efficacy should be taken into consideration for comparability studies [24-29]. Biosimilars and reference biopharmaceuticals have different manufacturing processes and different analytical procedures. Furthermore, different laboratories are used for the assays. Hence, the attributes of the biosimilar may not be identical to the reference biopharmaceutical. However, the specifications should include and control CQA of the reference product. The setting of specifications should be based on the applicant's experience with the biosimilar and the results of comparability studies. Several lots of follow-on biopharmaceutical must be used in specification setting, in which the applicant should prove that the set of limits for given specifications are within the range of variability of the reference product over the shelf-life of the biopharmaceutical product, except if it is justified to be otherwise [30].

1.4.4 Comparability Study

The scope of comparability studies is to compare the pre- and post-change products in terms of quality, safety and efficacy, as stated in guidance documents [31-34]. Some CQA would be considered comparable if they are within a predefined window, imposed either by regulators for commercial products or by the manufacturer during the earlier stage clinical development. Harmonized tripartite guidelines referred to as ICH Q5E (Comparability of Biotechnological/Biological Products Subject to Changes in their Manufacturing Process) are the most existing industry standards, which were developed for the comparability exercise of biopharmaceuticals. They were issued to support innovators of biopharmaceutical products to develop internal comparability during pre- and post-changes for their bioproducts. Here, this type of comparison will be referred to as an 'internal' comparison [34].

Performing a comparability study of a biopharmaceutical product after a process change from batch to batch within a company can be difficult. In addition, comparing two biopharmaceutical products from different manufacturers in order to demonstrate biosimilarity is challenging. Since biosimilars differ from generics (small molecules), the demonstration of biosimilarity requires extensive analytical tools and non-clinical and clinical studies. Here, this type of comparability is referred to as an 'external' comparison [2, 34].

Any change conducted in an existing manufacturing process from biosimilar or reference product manufacturer may lead to unexpected variations in analytical studies. Giving an interpretation of practical significance of any alteration in their process-related and productrelated impurity profiles is even more challenging. Since biosimilar development faces much more variations, the biosimilar producer will have to demonstrate an extensive analytical biosimilarity study [2].

Notwithstanding, ICH Q5E (comparability of biotechnological/biological products subject to changes in their manufacturing process) is issued for comparing pre- and post-changes of biotechnology-derived products [28], but some described scientific principles can also be applied to investigate the biosimilarity between a proposed follow-on product and its reference molecule.

Biosimilarity assessment in comparison to the comparability study requires more extensive and comprehensive data. Since the biosimilar manufacturer has a different manufacturing process than the reference product manufacturer, he will certainly have different cell lines, raw materials, equipment, processes, process controls and acceptance criteria. In February 2012, Food and Drug Administration (FDA) stated in its guidance for industry (Quality Considerations in Demonstrating Biosimilarity to a Reference Protein Product) [35] that "*The applicant should characterize, identify, and quantify impurities (product- and process-related as defined in ICH Q6B) in the proposed biosimilar product and the reference product. If comparative physicochemical analysis reveals comparable product-related impurities at similar levels between the two products, pharmacological/toxicological studies to characterize potential biological effects of specific impurities may not be necessary*".

1.5 Post-translational Modifications (PTMs)

PTMs are physiological modifications of proteins after the translation process in cells. In the case of biopharmaceuticals PTMs may also occur during the manufacturing process. As PTMs could lead to protein alterations, which may influence bioactivity and immunogenicity of biopharmaceuticals, it is crucial to analyze them and to understand their impact to the functions of biopharmaceuticals.

Figure 2 exemplarily depicts the structure and some of its possible PTMs of the mAb Rituximab. The potential PTMs found in Rituximab mAb are N-terminal glutamine (Q1), which may form N-terminal pyroglutamic acid, clipping of the C-terminal lysine, N-glycosylation and disulfide bonds [36].

To control the reproducibility of the production of the pharmaceutical protein, the manufacturer should monitor PTMs during multiple steps of the production process, control of their levels and assess their functional influence on the biopharmaceutical. The variability levels of PTMs, which are permitted in the development or commercial phase of the biopharmaceutical, can differ and are commonly defined by information concerning their impact and manufacturing history. However, the real clinical influence of alteration in the amount, level and forms of the diverse PTMs is unknown [34].



Figure 2: Schematic structure of rituximab and its potential PTMs. HCs and LCs are connected via one and the HCs via two disulfide bonds (S-S). The latter ones are located within a short hinge domain. 12 additional intramolecular disulfide bonds delimit six different globular domains: one variable (VL) and one constant domain for the LC (CL); and, one variable (VH) and three constant domains for the HCs (CH1, CH2 and CH3). LC and HC of rituximab have N-terminal glutamine (Q1), which may form N-terminal pyroglutamic acid (17 Da, labeled Q1/pE). Another major modification occurring in recombinant mAbs is clipping of the C-terminal lysine [36].

The evaluation of a potential biopharmaceutical requires identification of the consequences of each PTM (or altered PTM profile) on the function and safety, rather than analysis of its structure alone. Sometimes, the probable influence of changing or omitting a PTM may already be predicted from structural analysis [37]. However, the real impact of any change in the PTM profile should be ensured via clinical studies. Acceptance of comparability protocols by FDA issued data concerning the development of biosimilar products (these may vary in PTM profile as compared with the reference product). Comparability protocols enable the introduction of alterations in post-approval phase of reference product manufacturing by application of a reduced data dossier to demonstrate comparability with the reference molecule [38].

The most familiar PTMs that biopharmaceutical industry is facing during the production and the storage are exhibited in Table 1. Each attribute is explicitly debated (in the section below) in terms of the chemical nature, and its impact on structure, stability, efficacy ogenicity and *in vivo* half-life [24].

1.5.1 N-Terminal Modifications

Pyroglutamate (pyro-Glu) is an N-terminal modification that occurs frequently in LC or HC of a mAb. The formation of pyro-Glu is caused via spontaneous cyclization of glutamine (Gln) or glutamate (Glu) side chain onto the N-terminal α -amine. Forming of a thermodynamically favored five-membered ring is thereby preferred by Gln [39-42].

The existence of N-terminal pyro-Glu or a (truncated) leader sequence is reported neither to impact the structure and function of pharmaceutical proteins nor its potency [39]. Since endogenous human IgGs are entirely modified by pyro-Glu [43], immunogenicity concerns for this modification are minimal. However, charge variants caused by both modifications may impact the inter-molecular interaction and potentially lead to aggregation.

A second N-terminal modification may occur by miscleavage of the signal peptide. N-terminal elongation or truncation resulting from miscleavage of the signal peptide is not desirable for mAb production, since it generates product heterogeneity. Untruncated or partially truncated leader sequence, which has a hydrophobic nature, may cause aggregates and remains an unknown factor concerning immunogenicity [24]. **Table 1**: Common PTMs of mAbs and their potential effects on stability, function, immunogenicity and pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics as well as their extended characterization assays [36].

Attributos	Potential Impact	Extended Characterization Assays
Autoutes		Excentred Characterization (1998ay)
 Pyro-Glu non-cleaved signal sequence Truncation 	N-terminal modifications generate charge variants. They are considered to be low risk to comparability because of lack of impact on efficacy and are not expected to impact safety.	LC-MS or CE-MS analysis of
 C-terminal modifications Truncation of C-terminal lysine Amidation Glycation	C-terminal modifications generate charge variants. They are considered to be low risk to comparability because of their low percentage and lack of impact on efficacy and are not expected to impact safety. Glycation is a common modification leading to the generation of acidic species. Glycation in complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) can potentially decrease potency. Glycation in general increases mAb propensity towards aggregation.	 intact mAb reduced mAb IdeS digested antibodywith/without reduction peptide mapping
 Fc-glycosylation Sialic acid α1,3-Gal Terminal Gal Absence of core- fucosylation High mannose 	 <i>N</i>-Glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc) is immunogenic α1,3-Gal on Fab oligosaccharides is immunogenic The presence of galactose enhances complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) and possible shorter half-life if exposed. The absence of core-fucose enhances antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) mAbs with high mannose show enhanced ADCC and shorter half-life 	 LC-MS or CE-MS analysis of intact mAb reduced mAb IdeS digested antibody with/without reduction peptide mapping Hydrophilic interaction chromatography with fluorescence and MS detection
Asn deamidation Asp isomerization Succinimide Met and Trp Oxidation	Deamidation in CDR can potentially decrease potency. Isomerization in CDR can potentially decrease potency. Succinimide in CDR can potentially decrease potency. Oxidation in CDR can potentially decrease potency. A substantial amount of oxidation around FcRn binding afficient and potentially	LC-MS or CE-MS analysis of peptide mapping
 Cysteine-related variants Disulfide isoforms Free cysteine Trisulfide bond Thioether, D-cysteine, cysteinylation Glycation 	shorter half-life. IgG2 disulfide bond isoforms may impact potency. Higher amounts of free cysteines decrease mAb thermal stability and trigger formation of covalent aggregates. Other modifications such as thioether, D-cysteine, and cysteinylation are considered low risk because of their low levels or natural presence in humans.	 Disulfide bond confirmation: non- reduced peptide mapping Free cysteine: labeling with Ellman's reagent (DTMB)
Fragments Aggregates	Fragments are considered as low risk because of their low levels. Aggregation can potentially cause immunogenicity and loss of efficacy. It is a high- risk factor for comparability.	 Ion mobility mass spectrometry Asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation

1.5.2 C-Terminal Modifications

Truncation of C-terminal Lys and C-terminal amidation are the main C-terminal modifications. IgGs are initially produced bearing two terminal Lys residues. Cell culture conditions influence the cleavage of C-terminal Lys from recombinant mAbs, which leads to a final product with either zero, one or two C-terminal Lys residues. This outcome can be readily analysed by charge-based methods such as cation-exchange chromatography, since Lys residues carry positive charges [40].

The three-dimensional structures of antibody fractions with either zero, one or two C-terminal Lys residues were comparable as shown by hydrogen-deuterium exchange [44] or differential scanning calorimetry [45]. Furthermore, C-terminal Lys and C-terminal amidation modifications are located at the end of HC and distant from the antigen, neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), and Fc γ receptor binding sites, and was reported to not influence mAb's stability, function, or antigen binding [39, 46]. However, a recent work points out that truncation of C-terminal Lys is essential for an effective C1q binding and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) [47]. However, it is rapidly enzymatically removed from therapeutic mAbs in the bloodstream of humans [48], hence, a biological function of C-terminal Lys remains unclear. This is in line with Jiang et al., who demonstrated that mutant proteins lacking C-terminal Lys have no effect on potency, bio-availability, and pharmacokinetics, but may have decreased thermal stability in some specific mAbs [24, 49].

1.5.3 Deamidation

Deamidation of Asn is one of the most common PTM in pharmaceutical proteins, which can spontaneously occur at neutral to basic pH and high temperature. This facilitates the generation of a 3-to-1 ratio of isoaspartate (isoAsp) to Asp [50]. This PTM is favored by some up-stream and down-stream processing steps under stress conditions in accelerated stability studies and post administration by injection in human and animal subjects. Deamidation of Asn in the CDRs of a mAb may decrease the antigen binding affinity [51-53]. However, this modification occurs mainly in the constant domains of LC and HC of mAbs [39, 54-57]. A huge effort should be accomplished by bioengineering and assessment studies (in-process analytic) to avoid the deamidation risk of CDRs.

The impact of this modification is determined by localization of the particular Asn residues and the resulting products. Convertion of Asn to Asp or isoAsp leads to negative charges, which influence the structure and stability of biopharmaceuticals. Furthermore, formation of isoAsp may contribute to increased structural changes compared to Asp through the insertion of a methylene group to the peptide backbone. Asn modification to Asp increases, whereas formation of isoAsp decreased Fab thermal stability [52]. Not only loss of potency but also concerns about immunogenicity is rising due to occurrence of deamidated products, especially with respect to isoAsp [24, 58].

1.5.4 Oxidation

Several amino acid residues are prone to be oxidated. The most common oxidation of recombinant protein takes place at Met [59-62] and Trp [63, 64] residues. In human IgG, two Met residues located close to the CH (heavy chain constant domain) 2-CH3 domain interface, including parts of the FcRn binding site, have been confirmed in their tendency to oxidation [59, 65, 66].

Structural changes especially in the CH2 domain are the main consequences of Met residues oxidation, which decreases IgG thermal stability [59, 65, 66] and enhances aggregation tendency [65]. Although oxidation does not influence $Fc\gamma$ receptor affinity [62], oxidation of Met residues impacts CDC activity [59], *in vivo* half-life [67] and binding affinity to FcRn [62]. Trp oxidation in the CDR decreases thermal stability of IgG, enhances tendency towards aggregation and diminishes antigen binding [64, 68]. In addition, it induces yellow coloration as a result of kynurenine formation.

1.5.5 Glycation

Glycation occurs under physiological conditions as a non-enzymatic reaction between a reducing sugar and the N-terminal amine group or primary amines of Lys side chains within biopharmaceuticals [69, 70]. It may arise under stress conditions during accelerated formulation studies [71], storage [72, 73] and administration [72], and even during blood circulation [74]. It has been demonstrated that glycation of Lys residues has no impact on potency or pharmacokinetics [69, 75, 76]. However, some studies point out that glycation accelerates aggregation and impacts coloration of biopharmaceuticals [71, 77]. Thus, a case-by-case study should be performed to investigate the effects of glycation, which could be related to its site (e.g. whether it is located within the CDRs or not) or maybe molecule-dependent [24].

1.5.6 γ -Carboxylation and β -Hydroxylation

A small number of proteins are γ -carboxylated or β -hydroxylated, especially those proteins involved in blood coagulation [37, 78]. Specific carboxylase and hydroxylase enzymes carry out both modifications. Glu residues are converted to γ -carboxyglutamate (Glu \rightarrow Gla) and Asp residues to β -hydroxyaspartate (Asp \rightarrow Hya) or Asn residues to β -hydroxyasparagine (Asn \rightarrow Hyn). These PTMs could be detected by high-performance liquid chromatography analysis of protein hydrolysates [79] and mass spectrometry [80].

 γ -Carboxylation is required for calcium ion binding, activation of protein C and protein S of the anticoagulant system and plays a crucial role for the function of blood factors VII, IX and X. β -Hydroxylation is also meaningful for blood factors VII and IX as well as activated protein C. In case of native blood factor VIIa, which is a 406–amino acid glycoprotein, ten potential γ -carboxylation sites and a single potential β -hydroxylation site exits. Some studies demonstrated that both modifications are essential to maintain bioactivity of activated protein C [37].

1.5.7 Glycosylation

About 1-2% of the human genome encodes glycoproteins that are N- or O-glycosylated. However, glycosylation is one of the main and most complex PTM on cell membranes and secreted eukaryotic proteins [81]. About 30% of marketed biopharmaceuticals are glycoproteins. Taking into consideration the glycosylation issue, manufacturing of pharmaceutical glycoproteins in eukaryotic cell systems such as chinese hamster ovary (CHO), nonsecreting murine myeloma (NSO) or baby hamster kidney (BHK) cells are required. Carbohydrates bind co-translationally at specific Asp (N-linked) or serine/threonine (O-linked) residues. The consensus sequence Asn-X-Ser/Thr is crucial for N-glycans. Glycosylation is a heterogenous PTM, so multiple glycoprotein species are commonly generated [82]. Attachment of several different oligosaccharides at O- and N-glycosylation sites (microheteogeneity) and the incomplete occupation of glycan binding sites (macroheterogeneity) result in a huge number of variations. This structural diversity is substantially discussed regarding its functional significance [37]. Incomplete enzymatic trimming of the attached core sugar side chains leads to inhomogeneity of monosaccharide sequences. Therefore, a reproducible and consistent batch-to-batch glycan pattern remains a serious challenge for all manufacturers within the biopharmaceutical industry. Glycosylation

may affect secretion, activity, immunogenicity and stability of several biotherapeutics in multiple therapeutic classes [37].

1.5.7.1 N-Glycosylation

N-glycans are attached by a β -glycosidic bond via an *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) residue to the nitrogen atom of an Asn residue in the polypeptide [83-86]. In biopharmaceuticals, three types of N-glycans (Fig. 3), namely high-mannose, complex and hybrid [83, 86] may be present. All of them share an identical core structure, which comprises two GlcNAc and three Man residues. In case of high-mannose type N-glycans additional Man structures are added to the pentasaccharide core, while in the complex-type N-glycans various combinations of galactose (Gal), *N*-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac, sialic acid), GlcNAc and fucose (Fuc) are added to the terminal Man residues of the core structure.



Figure 3: **Structures of types of N-glycans.** The core structure of all N-glycans consists of three mannose and two GlcNAc units, to which additional mannose units are added in case of the high-mannose N-glycans. In complex-type N-glycans GlcNAc, Gal, Fuc and sialic acids are added. The hybrid-type possesses characteristics of the two other types. Blue square represents GlcNAc, green circle Man, yellow circle Gal, red triangle Fuc and pink diamond Neu5Ac.

The nomenclature of glycans is given according to the number of GlcNAc bound to the terminal Man units of the core, such as mono, bi-, tri- or tetraantennary N-glycans [84, 85]. Galactosylated N-glycans result from additional binding of Gal or N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) residues to those GlcNAc units. The reducing GlcNAc at the core structure as well as antennary GlcNAc and Gal may further be fucosylated. Furthermore, sialic acids bound to

the Gal structure expand the structural diversity of complex N-glycans. The hybrid-type subgroup merges characteristics of high-mannose- and complex-type N-glycans [86]. Complex-type N-glycans may bear a bisecting GlcNAc residue, which is added to the β 1-4-linked Man of the core structure. The resulting carbohydrate structure is depending on cell type and its development stage, the protein acceptor, and the availability of monosaccharides [87].

1.5.7.2 O-Glycosylation

In contrast to N-glycans, O-glycans are α -glycosidically linked via a GalNAc monomer to the oxygen atom of Ser or Thr and may influence the shape of the protein [88, 89]. The biosynthesis of O-glycans is a post-translational process and no general consensus sequence has been identified so far [90, 91]. The most common O-glycosidic bond is the mucin-type GalNAc- α -Ser/Thr. Mucins are glycosylated proteins with a high molecular mass (> 200 kDa), which have a large proportion of about 50-80 % of carbohydrates. Different core structures of O-GalNAc-linked mucin-type glycans are available (Table 2). Further O-glycans such as O-linked Fuc and O-linked Man are also found in nature [92].

Table 2: Core structures of mucin-type O-glycans. Their structure has a GalNAc unit that is α -linked to Ser or Thr in common.

core-type	Structure
core 1	Gal(β1-3)GalNAc-α-Ser/Thr
core 2	GlcNAc(β1-6)[Galβ1-3]GalNAc-α-Ser/Thr
core 3	GlcNAc(β1-3)GalNAc-α-Ser/Thr
core 4	GlcNAc(β1-6)[GlcNAc(β1-3)]GalNAc-α-Ser/Thr
core 5	GalNAc(a1-3)GalNAc-a-Ser/Thr
core 6	GlcNAc(β1-6)GalNAc-α-Ser/Thr
core 7	GalNAc(a1-6)GalNAc-a-Ser/Thr
core 8	Gal(a1-3)GalNAc-a-Ser/Thr

1.5.7.3 Functional impact of glycans on recombinant glycoproteins

Glycosylation of the CH2 in the Fc region is essential to uphold IgG structure and stability [93, 94] and to modulate Fc-mediated biological functions in specific cases [95-98]. The main heterogeneity of mAbs is caused by N-glycosylation, which increases the variation within the levels of sialylation, galactosylation, fucosylation and high-mannose type of glycans. Additional glycosylation of Fab rarely occurs in recombinant mAbs and is

commonly characterized by more complex and heavily sialylated N-glycans compared to Fc N-glycans [24].

Aglycosylation of mAbs occurs in low but constant amount during manufacturing, which may result in substantial conformational variations, reduced stability or almost failure of Fc effector-triggered biological functions such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and CDC [94, 98-100]. However, clinical trials revealed comparable half-life for aglycosylated and glycosylated mAbs [99].

Five to nine Man are usually attached to the core GlcNAc of high-mannose N-glycans. Highmannose type N-glycans are available at approximately 0.1% in human endogenous IgG [101], but they could increase up to 10% in level in mAbs [102]. Slight conformational alteration at the glycosylation site was found by comparing mAbs of high-mannose and complex N-glycans [102-104]. High-mannose structures in mAbs decrease thermal stability but do not influence long term stability [104] or the tendency towards aggregation by thermal stress [105]. High-mannose glycans have no impact on antigen binding [106]. However, they lead to reduced binding of type I [107, 108] and type II [109] $Fc\gamma$ receptors, and to deficiency in C1q binding and complement activation [106-110]. Finally, the presence of high-mannose glycans decreases *in vivo* half-life in both animal models and in humans [106-112].

The most abundant three glycoforms in the Fc part are biantennary complex carbohydrates with either zero, one or two terminal Gal [102, 113]. A comparable galactosylation pattern is present in human endogenous IgG [24, 101]. Slight conformational variations depend on the galactosylation level [94-96, 114, 115], but have no influence on the protein propensity to aggregation under thermal stress [105, 116]. Galactosylation of the Fc glycans does not affect the clearance of the mAbs *in vivo* [108, 111, 112]. However, glycans at Fab region with a high level of Gal, which are not capped by sialic acids, may lead to a reduction of half-life due to binding to the asialoglycoprotein receptor [117]. Recently conducted studies demonstrated, that galactosylation of the Fc part has a confined impact on ADCC activity, but some effect on CDC [118, 119]. Regarding safety, it is essential to mention that mAb N-glycans may additionally bear α 1,3-linked Gal, forming the highly immunogenic α Galepitope [120, 121].

α1,6-linked Fuc attached to the core GlcNAc in complex glycans is the most abundant pattern in human IgG [101]. Similar structures are found in recombinant mAbs together with

a low amount of afucosylated glycans. Alteration of the fucosylation quantity induces subtle structural variations around the glycosylation site only [96, 104, 122, 123], and has a slight impact on binding of antibodies to FcγRI, FcγRII, C1q, and FcRn [124, 125]. However, minimized core-fucosylation leads to enhancement of antibody binding to FcγRIIIa [124-127] and strongly increases ADCC activity [124-126, 128]. This positive impact of reduced core-fucosylation on the ADCC activity leads to higher efficacy in animal disease models [126, 127] and improvement of mAb's mechanism of action in tumor therapy in human subjects [129, 130]. Since core-fucosylation is crucial for ADCC, monitoring its degree is essential for effector functions, especially when ADCC is involved in the therapeutic effect or for targeting cell surface antigens by means of antibodies [14].

Neu5Ac is the most abundant sialic acid in human endogenous IgG [24, 113]. It is bound to terminal Gal trough an $\alpha 2,3$ - or $\alpha 2,6$ -linkage. In CHO cells, the most common cell system for the production of recombinant glycoproteins, Neu5Ac is found only in $\alpha 2,3$ - linkages [131]. Biotherapeutics manufactured in murine NS0 and mouse myeloma cell lines contain the potentially antigenic *N*-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc) [24, 113]. Fc-glycans of mAbs present low amounts of sialic acids (about 5%) [102, 113, 132]. However, the rare N-linked glycans at the Fab region may contain relatively high levels of sialic acid [132], ranging between 11% and 15% in human endogenous IgG [101, 113, 133]. Current studies pointed out that the existence of low degree of Fc-sialylation only cause a slight conformational variation [103, 134-138] in comparison to their asialylated counterparts. Moreover, the aggregation propensity under thermal stress is not influenced by the presence of Fc-sialylation [105]. This latter has no impact on antigen binding [139-141] and no impact on Fc γ R1 binding, ADCC and CDC [108, 139, 142].

However, modifications leading to an elevated level of sialylation have been shown to be effective in increasing the half-life of other biotherapeutics such as erythropoietin [143]. The longest half-life is observed on highly branched, highly sialylated glycoforms. Glycosylation supports *in-vivo* targeting and trafficking of a newly synthesized protein to its final destination. For example, the removal of EPOs N-linked glycosylation sites leads to a product that will be secreted very poorly from a producer cell. Human follicle-stimulating hormone (hFSH) predominantly bears sialic acid as the terminal moiety in glycans, which affects the hormones's survival in the circulation [144]. Exposure of terminal Gal residues affects the mechanism of hepatocyte receptors towards asialo-galactose-terminated glycans, leading to a

dramatical increase of glycoprotein clearance [144]. Finally, sulfated glycans present in Luteinizing Hormone and hFSH accelerate clearance of the glycoprotein [144].

1.6 Molecular Structure Analysis

The ICH-guideline Q6B (specifications: test procedures and acceptance criteria for biotechnological/biological products) summarizes a set of specifications, and suggests a scientifically sound technical approach for complete physicochemical characterization of protein molecular structures [27]. This guidance presents the appropriate analytical method for each molecular structure characteristic [2].

ICH Q6B is emphasizing five times that the manufacturers are encouraged to establish new analytical technologies and the existing methodologies must be continually modified and developed. Biosimilar applicants are not only committed to exhibit the biosimilarity of their biopharmaceutical product, but they should demonstrate a deep understanding of the molecular structure of the biosimilar product. The importance of state-of-the-art physicochemical molecular structural analysis is illustrated in a biosimilarity study as requirement of the regulatory authority [2]. Though the revolutionary development in the analytical methodology, one approach may not be able to investigate all relevant structural variations in therapeutic proteins. For this reason, the application of several, complementary and orthogonal analytical techniques are required to gain more information about the biopharmaceutical's structure. The major changes of molecular structures that may occur need to be investigated. These are primary sequence, PTMs and HOS [2]. The review in this thesis (see paragraph 3.1) therefore demonstrates the most applicable techniques to characterize a biopharmaceutical.

2 Scope of Work

This work aims at to assess the biosimilarity of three different reference biopharmaceuticals approved in Europe and US with the trade names Mabthera® (Roche), NovoSeven® (Novo Nordisk) and Enbrel[®] (Pfizer) and their respective follow-on products produced for the Asian market called Zytux[™], AryoSeven[™] and Altebrel[™] (AryoGen Pharmed). This is referred to as an external comparison. It is also a focus to analyse possible batch-to-batch variations of at least three batches of each biopharmaceutical that may occur during the biotechnological production process of reference and follow-on biopharmaceutical. This is referred to as an internal comparison. Furthermore, the internal and external comparability study will be performed based on ICH guidelines. Since regulatory authorities request extensive comparison of COA that may impact pharmacological response, it is an aim to apply ICH Q5E and Q6B guidelines to assess physicochemical characteristics such as intact mass and subunit analysis, PTMs and HOS. A combination of state-of-the-art analytics will be applied to assess COA concerning physical, chemical and biological characteristics mentioned in ICH Q5E. Furthermore, ICH Q6B guideline proposes suitable techniques to characterize physicochemical properties, immunochemical properties, biological activity, purity and impurities of the biopharmaceutical. Hence, these will be applied to the biopharmaceuticals mentioned in this work. Comparison of the data will be performed to investigate the biosimilarity as well as batch-to-batch variations over an extended time period. Moreover, different mass spectrometry-based analytical techniques typically used for the state-of-the-art analytics of the biopharmaceuticals will be established. Intact mass and subunit analysis, PTMs and HOS will be investigated using a UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E, UHPLC-IMS, nLC-ESI-MS/MS and MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS systems. Since glycosylation is highly sensitive to product quality differences arising from the biological production process, the N- and O-glycosylation will be investigated on protein (intact mass and subunits), glycopeptide and released glycan level. This includes a thorough investigation of glycosylation as an important CQA to confirm the preset specifications as a range by manufacturer in a GMP regulated framework.

3 Publications

3.1 Physicochemical Characterization of Biopharmaceuticals



This chapter was published in the following journal:

Parr MK, Montacir O, Montacir H, J Pharm Biomed Anal. 130 (2016), 366-389.

The interest of biopharmaceuticals for therapy is increasing due to their high target selectivity. When early approved blockbuster biopharmaceuticals run out of patent protection, proper analytical characterization and comparison of reference product and biosimilar is needed.

This review gives an overview on analytical methods for characterization of biopharmaceuticals. Classical methods such as gel electrophoresis and liquid chromatography are summarized and complemented with state-of-the-art mass spectrometric approaches. The preparation of the manuscript was performed in the scope of this dissertation under supervision of Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr. Coauthors provided content-related support.

The original review is available online at:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2016.05.028



3.2 Comparability Study of Rituximab Originator and Follow-on Biopharmaceutical

This chapter was published in the following journal:

Montacir O, Montacir H, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Saadati A, Parr MK, *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. 140, (**2017**), 239-251.

The goal of this study was to perform a head-to-head comparability of Mabthera[®] and its biosimilar ZytuxTM, which needs implementation of regulatory guidelines ICH Q6B and Q5E. Hence, middle-up approach to assess specific differences in LC, Fc and Fd region as well as bottom-up approach to screen for deamidation, pyroglutamic acid formation and oxidation is essential. IgG N³⁰¹-glycosylation site needs to be investigated by comparison of intact mass and subunit (heavy chain) glycoforms, glycopeptides and released N-glycans. Finally, binding assay and CDC will be used to verify the biological impact of possible physicochemical differences.

Rituximab intact mass analysis of reference molecule (Mabthera[®]) and biosimilar (ZytuxTM) using middle-up approach and subunit (LC and HC) measurement enabled to specifically detect the presence of Lys-variants within different glycoforms. Analysis of glycosylation on protein level (intact mass and subunits), glycopeptide level and released glycans showed qualitatively similar glycosylation profiles but different sialic acid contents in reference product, which may impact half-life *in vivo*. Furthermore, the glycan analysis of three mAb

batches revealed manufacturing process changes in case of the follow-on mAb. However, a comprehensive investigation of functional properties using binding and *in vitro* cell-based (CDC) bioassays revealed that the biosimilar has the same bioactivity as the reference molecule.

Conception and execution of all experiments and the preparation of the manuscript were performed in the scope of this dissertation under supervision of Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr. Coauthors provided preliminary findings, practical assistance or content-related support.

The original research article is available online at:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.03.029

3.3 Bioengineering of rFVIIa Biopharmaceutical and Structure Characterization for

Biosimilarity Assessment



This chapter was published in the following journal:

Montacir O, Montacir H, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Mahboudi F, Saadati A, Parr MK, *Bioengineering (Basel)* 5(1), (**2018**), 1-16.

Bioengineering of Eptacog alfa rFVIIa follow-on biopharmaceutical AryoSevenTM will be thoroughly investigated by assessment of physicochemical properties including intact mass, PTMs and higher-order structure in this study. The focus of this work was to analyse PTMs such as N- and O-glycosylation as well as γ -carboxylation based on intact glycoprotein, glycopeptide level and released glycans using high-resolution UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E and MALDI-TOF-MS/MS.

Bioengineering was successfully performed for the Eptacog alfa follow-on biopharmaceutical AryoSevenTM. In-depth characterization using mass spectrometry showed comparable intact masses for reference product (NovoSeven[®]) and biosimilar (AryoSevenTM). However, small mass shifts observed for the biosimilar are most likely from variances in PTMs. γ -Carboxylated peptides were found to be comparable in NovoSeven[®] and AryoSevenTM since the fully γ -carboxylated peptide containing 10-times Gla exits in both biopharmaceuticals.

O- and N-glycopeptide mass spectra of follow-on biodrug (AryoSevenTM) and reference product (NovoSeven[®]) were comparable. The analytical strategy enabled to confirm each O- and N-glycosylation sites (Ser52, Ser60, Asn145 and Asn322). GalNAc-bearing N-glycan structuresTM, which are often correlated with an overall lower sialylation, were found to be much more abundant in AryoSeven. The follow-on biopharmaceutical production obviously promotes mainly the non-sialylated structures ending with Gal and GalNAc (galacto- and agalacto-type), respectively. This may result in accelerated clearance from blood due to high affinity binding to asialoglycoprotein receptor. The bioactivity assay of the biosimilar is almost identical to the reference product NovoSeven[®]. Thus, the lower amount of sialylated structures found in AryoSeven, may be considered of low relevance.

Conception and execution of all experiments and the preparation of the manuscript were performed in the scope of this dissertation under supervision of Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr. Coauthors provided preliminary findings, practical assistance or content-related support.

The original research article is available online at:

https://doi.org/10.3390/bioengineering5010007

3.4 Physicochemical Characterization, Glycosylation Pattern and Biosimilarity Assessment of the Fusion Protein Etanercept



This chapter was published in the following journal:

Montacir O, Montacir H, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Mahboudi F, Saadati A, Parr MK, Protein J. 37(2), (**2018**), 164-179.

Physocochemical characterization of Etanercept reference product (Enbrel[®]) and biosimilar (AltebrelTM) comprises studies about intact mass and N- and O-glycosylation using different complement analytical approaches due to the complex molecular structure of Etanercept. Since Etanercept glycans are highly sialylated, different purification and enrichment steps are necessary to isolate the glycopeptides accordingly. The impact of structural differences between the biopharmaceuticals will be assessed via the TNF-sensitive neutralization assay.

Intact mass analysis of Etanercept reference product (Enbrel[®]) and biosimilar (AltebrelTM) was performed using two different mass spectrometric approaches and revealed an approximate mass of about 126 kDa for desialylated reference product and follow-on product. Calculation from subunit analysis in this study results in an approximate mass of 64.1 kDa for the monomer (38.3 kDa for TNFR/2 (tumor necrosis factor receptor) and 25.8 kDa for Fc/2). Hence a total intact mass of 128 kDa for the homodimer Etanercept is calculated. UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E glycopeptide analysis of reference product (Enbrel[®]) and biosimilar (AltebrelTM) confirmed all N-glycosylation sites and their similarity. Using a mixture of three different enzymes (Lys-C, trypsin and Asp-N), the complexity of glycopeptides was reduced by minimizing their size and thereby allowed to identify the N-glycopeptides corresponding to the three different N-glycosylation sites (Asn149, Asn171 and Asn317) of Etanercept reference and follow-on product. Using an enrichment step that

selectively removes non-glycosylated peptides, it was possible to enhance the ionization efficiency and identify most of the N-glycopeptides of Etanercept. N-Glycopeptides assigned to Asn317 and hence the Fc-part of Etanercept were shown to bear the Fc-specific glycans such as Man5, G0, G0F and G1F, as already found in Fc domain analysis. N-Glycopeptides corresponding to Asn149 and Asn171 and hence the TNFR domain of Etanercept, were shown to possess a higher heterogeneity and are mainly sialylated structures. In this study, O-glycopeptide structures were confirmed to be similar for the reference and follow-on biopharmaceutical Etanercept. Four different O-glycopeptides at T8, T184, S199, T200 and T245 were detected without prior cleavage of terminal sialic acids, but using a mixture of different proteases followed by an O-glycopeptide specific HILIC-based enrichment step. The data revealed that three peptides have one occupied O-glycosylated site to which core 1-type O-glycans (N1, H1N1, S1N1, S1H1N1 and S2H1N1) are attached. Glycosylation profiling in this study revealed that the most abundant structures on Etanercept reference as well as follow-on biopharmaceutical are biantennary and bigalactosylated structures bearing one Fuc and/or sialic acid residue. About half of the total N-glycan pool of reference and follow-on biopharmaceutical were found to be sialylated and O-glycosylation mapping shows that most of the O-glycans contain sialic acid as well. Furthermore, a neutralization assay, investigating the impact of altered PTMs on potency, indicated that the differences found in PTMs within all batches are still in the acceptable range for biosimilarity.

Conception and execution of all experiments and the preparation of the manuscript were performed in the scope of this dissertation under supervision of Prof. Dr. Maria Kristina Parr. Coauthors provided preliminary findings, practical assistance or content-related support.

The original research article is available online at:

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10930-018-9757-y

4 Personal Contribution

The following table shows the assignment of personal contribution to the papers of this dissertation.

Publication	Conception	Execution	Data evaluation	Preparation of
				manuscript
1 (review)	40	-	-	40
2 (original research)	90	90	90	90
3 (original research)	90	90	90	90
4 (original research)	90	90	90	90

Table 3: Assignment of personal contribution to publications for this dissertation shown in %.

5 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

This work represents biosimilarity assessment studies performed between three branded biopharmaceuticals (Mabthera[®], NovoSeven[®] and Enbrel[®]) and their respective follow-on products commercialized in the Asian market ($Zytux^{TM}$, $AryoSeven^{TM}$ and $Altebrel^{TM}$). Three batches of reference product and biosimilar were investigated for possible variations in bioprocess manufacturing, using various mass spectrometric approaches such as UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E, UHPLC-IMS, nLC-ESI-MS/MS and MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS. The data was correlated to a set of bioassay experiments to evaluate the impact on the bioactivity.

The physicochemical characterization of biopharmaceuticals is a challenging task for industry as well as for regulatory agencies, which requires state-of-art analytical methods to meet the requirements of Q6B and Q5E ICH-guidelines. Comparability studies between reference products and non-originators demand in-depth investigation on CQA and batch-to-batch variations occurring during manufacturing. However, an analytical workflow was proposed to analyze physicochemical properties.

In parallel to the growing interest in the production of biopharmaceuticals, quality assurance is gaining more and more interest. Robust methods for daily quality control are needed that should be easy to use and available at affordable costs. Gel electrophoresis and HPLC-UV separation using orthogonal stationary phases will remain the main pillars in this case. A combination of different orthogonal separation techniques allows for sufficient characterization of heterogeneity (isoforms) in batch-to-batch studies of biopharmaceuticals.

However, in product development and approval, approaches for in-depth characterization to investigate all CQA are needed. Mass spectrometry (MS)-based methods play crucial roles due to their ability to provide precise, confident and information-rich data regarding intact mass, primary sequence, PTMs and HOS. The implementation of regulatory guidance ICH Q6B and Q5E requires state-of-the-art MS-based methods such as MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS and UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E in combination with IMS to provide a comprehensive comparability data set. Indeed, MS is offering comprehensive results and facilitating the interaction with regulatory departments. In addition, structural variances detected by these analytical methods determine the amount of biological, non-clinical and clinical studies that are needed for development of biosimilar mAbs, Fc-fusion proteins and other biopharmaceuticals. Furthermore, these data may help to select appropriate cell lines, to develop robust production, and to support process control. In addition, evaluation of MS data regarding the degree of similarity between a biosimilar and a reference product should be done at the

beginning of the biosimilar production as the correct primary structure may save a lot of time and money.

MS-based methods will gain further importance to comprehensively characterize the therapeutic protein in comparability studies of reference product and biosimilar. In addition, the development of more sensitive and accurate MS-techniques may facilitate the biosimilarity assessment. However, in addition to MS-based techniques other analytical approaches should be used for full physicochemical characterization. The abbreviated procedure for drug approval of biosimilars require comprehensive data to demonstrate structural similarity. Knowledge on CQA and their variances during production of biopharmaceuticals is needed to evaluate the analytical results. Biological assays should be applied in parallel to the physicochemical characterization to assess the potential impact of analytical differences on clinical effects in safety and efficacy.

To conclude, it was possible to establish different MS-based approaches that may detect also small differences in the physicochemical profile of different biopharmaceuticals. These state-of-the-art approaches are of great importance for internal and external comparability studies and enable to detect possible variations regarding the intact mass and PTMs of reference product and follow-on drug. Finally, the impact of these variations on the bioactivity were correlated to a set of bioassays and it was possible to show that they were minor, since they had no influence on biopharmaceutical's potency.

6 Abstract

Most of the recently approved biopharmaceuticals represent drugs that are produced by biotechnological processes involving recombinant DNA. Protein-based biopharmaceuticals are emerging on the pharmaceutical market due to their high target selectivity in specific diseases. In parallel, a growing interest by other companies to produce similar or highly similar follow-on biopharmaceuticals exits, once the patent of blockbuster biotherapeutics is about to expire. In correlation to their complex structure, an analytical challenge is facing the approval of these biosimilars. Since the biological product's critical quality attributes (CQAs) could be influenced by manufacturing process conditions, health authorities (e.g. FDA and EMA) have issued several guidelines to define CQA during manufacturing process changes. Investigation of possible batch-to-batch variations that may occur during the biotechnological production process of reference and follow-on biopharmaceutical is referred to as an internal comparison. Comparing two biopharmaceutical products from different manufacturers to demonstrate biosimilarity is extremely challenging. Here, we refer to this type of comparability as an 'external' comparison. Since biosimilars differ from generic small molecules, the demonstration of biosimilarity requires extensive analytical tools.

In the current study, physicochemical characterization using state-of-the-art analytics was performed to analyze intact and subunit masses, post-translational modifications (PTMs), higher order structure (HOS) and potency of the reference biotherapeutics Mabthera[®] (Roche), Enbrel[®] (Pfizer) and NovoSeven[®] (Novo Nordisk), and their respective biosimilars Zytux[™], AryoSeven[™] and Altebrel[™] (AryoGen Pharmed) in accordance to CQA of biopharmaceuticals. A special focus was given to N-glycosylation due to its potential to monitor the batch-to-batch consistency and alteration during the production bioprocess.

Head-to-head comparability of three batches Mabthera[®] and Zytux[™] comprising intact mass analysis, middle-up approach as well as subunit analysis revealed similar glycoforms but additional lysine (Lys) variants in the biosimilar. The N-glycosylation site was confirmed for both, the reference product and biosimilar. PTMs and HOS were confirmed to be comparable. However, comparison of the N-glycosylation profiles obtained from three batches of the biosimilar and the reference product showed quantitative variations, although the N-glycans were qualitatively similar. Furthermore, functional properties were compared to investigate the impact of glycosylation alteration and PTMs on potency within the biosimilar batches and between reference and follow-on biodrug. The data affirm that the analytically detected differences are still in the acceptable range for biosimilarity. Regarding Eptacog alfa biopharmaceuticals, physicochemical properties were analyzed based on mass spectrometry, including intact mass, PTMs and higher-order structure. Nglycopeptide analysis with UHPLC-QTOF- MS^E confirmed all N-glycosylation sites as well as two different O-glycopeptide sites. Serine (Ser)60 was found to be O-fucosylated and Ser52 had O-glucose or O-glucose-(xylose)_{1,2} motifs as glycan variants. Both biotherapeutics (NovoSeven[®], AryoSevenTM) exhibit a batch-to-batch variability in their N-glycan profiles. Traveling wave ion-mobility spectrometry (TWIMS) and NMR (nuclear magnetic resonance) spectroscopy affirm close similarity of the higher-order structure of both biopharmaceuticals. Potency of the biodrugs was analyzed by a coagulation assay demonstrating comparable bioactivity.

Physicochemical characterization using state-of-the-art analytics was performed to reference product Enbrel® and its biosimilar AltebrelTM. Intact mass and subunit analysis revealed a size of about 126 kDa for both biopharmaceuticals. Similar glycoprotein species for the complete monomer and the fragment crystallizable (Fc) region domain of reference and follow-on product were observed, however, small differences in Lys variants and oxidation were found. N-Glycopeptide analysis with UHPLC-OTOF-MS^E confirmed the Nglycosylation sites (Asn149, Asn171 and Asn317) as well as Fc-specific glycosylation on Asn317, and tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR)-specific highly sialylated glycans on Asn149 and Asn171 for both investigated products. Small quantitative variations in the Nglycan profile were detected, although the N-glycans were qualitatively similar. Four different O-glycopeptides bearing core 1-type glycans were detected. For both, N- and Oglycopeptide analysis, determination was achieved without prior cleavage of the sialic acid residues for the first time. In addition, ion-mobility spectrometry confirmed close similarity of higher-order structure of both biopharmaceuticals. Furthermore, a neutralization assay, investigating the impact of altered PTMs on potency, indicated that the differences within all batches are still in the acceptable range for biosimilarity.

7 Zusammenfassung

Die meisten der kürzlich zugelassenen Biopharmazeutika repräsentieren Therapeutika, die durch biotechnologische Prozesse unter Verwendung rekombinanter DNA produziert werden. Proteinbasierende Biopharmazeutika sind wegen ihrer hohen Targetselektivität in spezifischen Erkrankungen immer häufiger auf dem pharmazeutischen Markt vertreten. Zudem existiert ein immer größer werdendes Interesse anderer Firmen ähnliche oder sehr ähnliche Nachfolger-Biologika zu produzieren, sobald das Patent der teuren Originator-Biotherapeutika dabei ist abzulaufen. Aufgrund ihrer komplexen Struktur steht der Zulassung der Biosimilare eine analytische Herausforderung gegenüber. Da die kritischen Oualitätsattribute eines biologischen Produktes durch die Schritte des Herstellungsprozesses beeinflusst werden können, haben die Gesundheitsorganisationen (z. B. FDA und EMA) verschiedene Richtlinien erlassen, um die kritischen Qualitätsattribute bei Veränderungen des Herstellungsprozesses zu definieren. Allerdings ist der Nachweis der Biosimilarität beim Vergleich zweier biologischer Produkte von verschiedenen Herstellern sehr herausfordernd. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wird diese Art des Vergleichs als "externer Vergleich" bezeichnet. Da Biosimilare sich von generischen Molekülen unterscheiden, setzt die Darstellung der Biosimilarität den Einsatz umfassender analytischer Methoden voraus.

In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurde eine physikochemische Charakterisierung unter Verwendung von State-of-the-Art-Analytik durchgeführt, um die Masse des intakten Moleküls sowie Untereinheiten (Fc, LC und Fd) davon, post-translationalen Modifikationen, dreidimensionale Struktur und biologische Stärke der Original-Biotherapeutika Mabthera® (Roche), Enbrel[®] (Pfizer) und NovoSeven[®] (Novo Nordisk) sowie ihrer jeweiligen ZytuxTM, AryoSevenTM Altebrel™ Biosimilare und (AryoGen Pharmed) unter Berücksichtigung ihrer kritischen Qualitätsattribute, zu analysieren. Ein spezieller Fokus wurde dabei auf die N-Glykosylierung gelegt, da diese das Potential besitzt die Batch-zu-Batch-Konsistenz und Unterschiede während des biologischen Produktionsprozesses zu überwachen. Ein Head-to-Head-Vergleich der intakten Molekülmasse, Middle-Up-Analyse und Analytik der Untereinheiten dreier Batches Mabthera[®] und Zytux[™] zeigte ähnliche Glykoformen aber zusätzliche Lysin (Lys)-Varianten im Biosimilar. Die N-Glykosylierungsstelle Asn301 wurde sowohl für das Referenzprodukt als auch dem Biosimilar bestätigt. Die post-translationalen Modifikationen und dreidimensionale Struktur des Referenzproduktes sowie Biosimilars wurden als vergleichbar nachgewiesen. Jedoch zeigte der Vergleich der N-Glykosylierungsprofile dreier Batches des Biosimilars und

Referenzproduktes quantitative aber keine qualititativen Unterschiede. Zudem wurden die funktionellen Eigenschaften verglichen, um den Einfluss der Unterschiede in der Glykosylierung und der post-translationalen Modifikationen auf die Wirksamkeit der Biosimilar-Batches im Vergleich zum Referenzprodukt zu untersuchen. Die Daten bestätigen, dass die detektierten Unterschiede innerhalb des Toleranzbereiches für den Biosimilar liegen. Die Eptagog alfa Biotherapeutika wurden physikochemisch mittels massenspektrometrischer Methoden auf intakte Masse, post-translationaler Modifikationen und dreidimensionaler Struktur analysiert. Die Analyse der N-Glykopeptide mittels UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E identifizierte alle N-Glykosylierungs- und zwei O-Glykosylierungsstellen. Es konnte gezeigt werden, dass Ser60 O-fucosyliert und Ser52 O-Glucose oder O-Glucose-(Xylose)_{1,2} Motive als Glykan-Varianten trägt. Die N-Glykanprofile beider Biotherapeutika (NovoSeven[®], AryoSeven[™]) besitzen Batch-zu-Batch Schwankungen. Ionenmobilitäts-Spektrometrie und NMR-Spektroskopie bestätigen die Ähnlichkeit der dreidimensionalen Struktur beider Biotherapeutika. Die Wirksamkeit beider Biopharmazeutika wurde mittels eines Koagulations-Tests analysiert und zeigte eine vergleichbare Bioaktivität.

Die Physikochemische Charakterisierung mittels State-of-the-Art-Analytik wurde für den Vergleich des Etanercept Referenzprodukt Enbrel[®] und seinem Biosimilar AltebrelTM verwendet. Die Analyse der intakten Masse und der Untereinheiten zeigte eine Gesamtmasse von etwa 126 kDa je Dimer für beide Biotherapeutika. Die Glykoproteinspezien der kompletten Monomere sowie der Fc-Region des Referenz-Produktes und Biosimilars waren, bis auf geringe Unterschiede in den Lys-Varianten sowie der Oxidation, ähnlich. Die N-Glykopeptid-Analyse mittels UHPLC-QTOF-MS^E bestätigte die N-Glykosylierungsstellen (Asn149, Asn171 und Asn317) sowie die Fc-spezifische Glykosylierung von Asn317. Zudem zeigte diese die Tumornekrosefaktor-Rezeptor (TNFR)-spezifschen hochsialvierten Glykane an Asn149 und Asn171 im Falle beider Biotherapeutika. Die N-Glykanprofile zeigten geringe quantitative aber keine qualitativen Unterschiede. Es konnten vier verschiedene O-Glykopeptide, die core 1-Typ-Glykane tragen, detektiert werden. Die N- und O-Glykopeptidanalyse wurde entgegen der aktuellen Literatur ohne vorherige Abspaltung der Sialinsäuren erfolgreich durchgeführt. Zudem bestätigte die Ionenmobilitäts-Spektrometrie eine große Ähnlichkeit der dreidimensionalen Struktur beider Biotherapeutika. Ein Neutralisationstest sollte den Einfluss der gefundenen Unterschiede in den posttranslationalen Modifikationen auf die Wirksamkeit untersuchen. Dieser zeigte, dass die Unterschiede in allen Batches innerhalb des Toleranzbereiches des Biosimilars liegen.

8 References

- Walsh, G., *Biopharmaceuticals Biochemistry and Biotechnology*. 2nd ed. 2013, England: Wiley. p. 544.
- 2. Geigert, J., *The Challenge of CMC Regulatory Compliance for Biopharmaceuticals and other Biologics*. 2nd ed. 2013, New York: Springer.
- Walsh, G., Current status of modern biopharmaceuticals: approved products and trends in approvals, in Modern Biopharmaceuticals - Design, Development and Optimization, J. Knäblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH. p. 1-34.
- 4. *Modern Biopharmaceuticals*. J. Knäblein, Editior, 2013, New-Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell. p. 249-284.
- Riedel, N., Dorner F., A new technology standard for safety and afficacy in factor VIII replacement therapy: designing and advanced category rFVIII concentrate, in Modern Biopharmaceuticals - Design, Development and Optimization, J. Knäblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag-GmbH. p. 419-447.
- 6. Gottschalk, U., Mundt, K., *Thirty years of monoclonal antibodies: a long way to pharmaceutical and commercial success*, in *Modern Biopharmaceuticals Design, Development and Optimization*, J. Knäblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH. p. 1105-1145.
- Gutjahr, T., The development of Herceptin: paving the way for individualized cancer therapy, in Modern Biopharmaceuticals - Design, Development and Optimization, J. Knäblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH. p. 127-149.
- 8. Hempel, J.C., Hess, P.H., Contract manufacturing of biopharmaceuticals including antibodies or antibody fragments, in Modern Biopharmaceuticals - Design, Development and Optimization, J. Käblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH. p. 1083-1142.
- Moroney, S., Plückthun, A., Modern antibody technology: the impact on drug development, in Modern Biopharmaceuticals - Design, Development and Optimization, J. Knäblein, Editor. 2005, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH. p. 1147-1186.
- 10. Biopharmaceuticals Market Segmented by Type of Products and Applications -Growth, Trends and Forecasts (2018 - 2023). 2018 [cited 23.08.2018]; Available

from: https://www.mordorintelligence.com/industry-reports/globalbiopharmaceuticals-market-industry.

- 11. Brekke, O.H. and I. Sandlie, *Therapeutic antibodies for human diseases at the dawn of the twenty-first century*. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2003. **2**: p. 52-62.
- Samanen, J., Chapter 5 Similarities and differences in the discovery and use of biopharmaceuticals and small-molecule chemotherapeutics, in Introduction to Biological and Small Molecule Drug Research and Development. 2013, Oxford: Elsevier. p. 161-203.
- Salfeld, J.G., *Isotype selection in antibody engineering*. Nature Biotechnology, 2007.
 25: p. 1369-1372.
- Jiang, X.-R., A. Song, S. Bergelson, T. Arroll, B. Parekh, K. May, S. Chung, R. Strouse, A. Mire-Sluis and M. Schenerman, *Advances in the assessment and control of the effector functions of therapeutic antibodies*. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2011. 10: p. 101-111.
- Chow, S.C., *Biosimilars: Design and Analysis of Follow-on Biologics* Biometrics.
 2014, England: CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group. p. 8-9.
- Boccia, R., I. Jacobs, R. Popovian and G. de Lima Lopes, *Can biosimilars help achieve the goals of US health care reform?* Cancer Management and Research, 2017. 9: p. 197-205.
- 17. Scientific Considerations in Demonstrating Biosimilarity to a Reference Product.2015, Food and Drug Administration.
- Chen, B.L., CMC issues and regulatory requirements for biosimilars. Trends Bio/Pharm. Ind., 2009. 5: p. 19-26.
- 19. FDA Points to Consider in the Characterization of Cell Lines Used to Produce Biologicals. 1993, Food and Drug Administration.
- 20. United States Pharmacopeia 24 and National Formulary 19. 2000, United States Pharmacopeial Convention: Inc., Rockville, MD.
- 21. *ICH Q8 (R2), Pharmaceutical development.* 2009, The International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use.
- Alt, N., T.Y. Zhang, P. Motchnik, R. Taticek, V. Quarmby, T. Schlothauer, H. Beck, T. Emrich and R.J. Harris, *Determination of critical quality attributes for monoclonal antibodies using quality by design principles*. Biologicals, 2016. 44: p. 291-305.

- 23. ICH Q11, Development and manufacture of drug substances (Chemical entities and biotechnological/biological entities). 2012, The International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use.
- Ambrogelly, A., S. Gozo, A. Katiyar, S. Dellatore, Y. Kune, R. Bhat, J. Sun, N. Li, D. Wang, C. Nowak, A. Neill, G. Ponniah, C. King, B. Mason, A. Beck and H. Liu, *Analytical comparability study of recombinant monoclonal antibody therapeutics*. mAbs, 2018. 10: p. 513-538.
- 25. FDA Guidance concerning demonstration of comparability of human biological products, including therapeutic biotechnology-derived products. 1996, Food and Drug Administration.
- 26. FDA Points to consider in the manufacturer and testing of monoclonal antibody products for human use. 1997, Food and Drug Administration.
- ICH Q6B Specifications: Test Procedures and acceptance criteria for biotechnological/biological products. 1999, The International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use.
- 28. *ICH Q5E Comparability of biotechnological/biological products subject to changes in their manufacturing process.* 2004, The International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use.
- 29. Guideline on the requirements for quality documentation concerning biological investigational medicinal products in clinical trials. 2016, European Medicines Agency.
- 30. *Guidelines on evaluation of similar biotherapeutics products (SBPs).* 2009, World Health Organization.
- 31. Ha, D., Perception & realities of clinical safety of biosimilars EU & US perspectives: part 1. Regulatory Rapporteur., 2012. 9: p. 20-25.
- Kozlowski, S., J. Woodcock, K. Midthun and R. Behrman Sherman, *Developing the Nation's Biosimilars Program*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2011. 365: p. 385-388.
- 33. *Guideline on similar biological medicinal products containing biotechnology-derived proteins as active substance: quality issues.* 2006, European Medicines Agency.

- 34. Berkowitz, S.A., J.R. Engen, J.R. Mazzeo and G.B. Jones, *Analytical tools for characterizing biopharmaceuticals and the implications for biosimilars*. Nature reviews. Drug discovery, 2012. **11**: p. 527-540.
- 35. *Quality Considerations in Demonstrating Biosimilarity of a Therapeutic Protein Product to a Reference Product.* 2015, European Medicines Agency.
- Beck, A., H. Diemer, D. Ayoub, F. Debaene, E. Wagner-Rousset, C. Carapito, A. Van Dorsselaer and S. Sanglier-Cianférani, *Analytical characterization of biosimilar antibodies and Fc-fusion proteins*. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 2013. 48: p. 81-95.
- 37. Walsh, G. and R. Jefferis, *Post-translational modifications in the context of therapeutic proteins*. Nature Biotechnology, 2006. **24**: p. 1241-1252.
- 38. Walsh, G. and R. Jefferis, *Post-translational modifications in the context of therapeutic proteins*. Nature Biotechnology, 2006. **24**: p. 1241-1252.
- Lyubarskaya, Y., D. Houde, J. Woodard, D. Murphy and R. Mhatre, Analysis of recombinant monoclonal antibody isoforms by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry as a strategy for streamlining characterization of recombinant monoclonal antibody charge heterogeneity. Analytical Biochemistry, 2006. 348: p. 24-39.
- 40. Moorhouse, K.G., W. Nashabeh, J. Deveney, N.S. Bjork, M.G. Mulkerrin and T. Ryskamp, Validation of an HPLC method for the analysis of the charge heterogeneity of the recombinant monoclonal antibody IDEC-C2B8 after papain digestion1Presented at the Well Characterized Biotechnology Pharmaceuticals Meeting in San Francisco, 6–8 January 1997.1. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 1997. 16: p. 593-603.
- Ouellette, D., L. Alessandri, A. Chin, C. Grinnell, E. Tarcsa, C. Radziejewski and I. Correia, *Studies in serum support rapid formation of disulfide bond between unpaired cysteine residues in the VH domain of an immunoglobulin G1 molecule*. Analytical Biochemistry, 2010. **397**: p. 37-47.
- Dick, L. W., Kim, C., Qiu, D. and Cheng. K.-C., Determination of the origin of the Nterminal pyro-glutamate variation in monoclonal antibodies using model peptides. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 2007. 97: p. 544-553.

- Liu, Y.D., A.M. Goetze, R.B. Bass and G.C. Flynn, *N-terminal Glutamate to Pyroglutamate Conversion in Vivo for Human IgG2 Antibodies*. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2011. 286: p. 11211-11217.
- Tang, L., S. Sundaram, J. Zhang, P. Carlson, A. Matathia, B. Parekh, Q. Zhou and M.-C. Hsieh, *Conformational characterization of the charge variants of a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody using H/D exchange mass spectrometry*. mAbs, 2013. 5: p. 114-125.
- 45. Liu, H., G.-G. Bulseco and J. Sun, *Effect of posttranslational modifications on the thermal stability of a recombinant monoclonal antibody*. Immunology Letters, 2006.
 106: p. 144-153.
- 46. Antes, B., Amon, S., Rizzi, A., Wiederkum, S., Kainer, M., Szolar, O., Fido, M., Kircheis, R. and A. Nechansky, *Analysis of lysine clipping of a humanized Lewis-Y* specific IgG antibody and its relation to Fc-mediated effector function. Journal of Chromatography B, 2007. 852: p. 250-256.
- 47. van den Bremer, E.T.J., Beurskens, F.J., Voorhorst, M., Engelberts, P.J., de Jong, R.N., van der Boom, B.G., Cook, E.M., Lindorfer, M.A., Taylor, R.P., van Berkel, P.H.C. and P.W.H.I. Parren, *Human IgG is produced in a pro-form that requires clipping of C-terminal lysines for maximal complement activation*. mAbs, 2015. 7: p. 672-680.
- 48. Cai, B., Pan, H. and G. C. Flynn, *C-terminal lysine processing of human immunoglobulin G2 heavy chain in vivo*. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 2011.
 108: p. 404-412.
- Jiang, G., C. Yu, D.B. Yadav, Z. Hu, A. Amurao, E. Duenas, M. Wong, M. Iverson, K. Zheng, X. Lam, J. Chen, R. Vega, S. Ulufatu, C. Leddy, H. Davis, A. Shen, P.Y. Wong, R. Harris, Y.J. Wang and D. Li, *Evaluation of Heavy-Chain C-Terminal Deletion on Product Quality and Pharmacokinetics of Monoclonal Antibodies*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2016. 105: p. 2066-2072.
- Geiger, T. and S. Clarke, Deamidation, isomerization, and racemization at asparaginyl and aspartyl residues in peptides. Succinimide-linked reactions that contribute to protein degradation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1987. 262: p. 785-794.

- Huang, L., J. Lu, V.J. Wroblewski, J.M. Beals and R.M. Riggin, *In Vivo Deamidation Characterization of Monoclonal Antibody by LC/MS/MS*. Analytical Chemistry, 2005. 77: p. 1432-1439.
- 52. Vlasak, J., M.C. Bussat, S. Wang, E. Wagner-Rousset, M. Schaefer, C. Klinguer-Hamour, M. Kirchmeier, N. Corvaïa, R. Ionescu and A. Beck, *Identification and characterization of asparagine deamidation in the light chain CDR1 of a humanized IgG1 antibody*. Analytical Biochemistry, 2009. **392**: p. 145-154.
- 53. Yan, B., S. Steen, D. Hambly, J. Valliere-Douglass, T.V. Bos, S. Smallwood, Z. Yates, T. Arroll, Y. Han, H. Gadgil, R.F. Latypov, A. Wallace, A. Lim, G.R. Kleemann, W. Wang and A. Balland, *Succinimide formation at Asn 55 in the complementarity determining region of a recombinant monoclonal antibody IgG1 heavy chain.* Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2009. **98**: p. 3509-3521.
- Chelius, D., D.S. Rehder and P.V. Bondarenko, *Identification and Characterization of Deamidation Sites in the Conserved Regions of Human Immunoglobulin Gamma Antibodies*. Analytical Chemistry, 2005. 77: p. 6004-6011.
- 55. Liu, H., G. Gaza-Bulseco and J. Sun, *Characterization of the stability of a fully human monoclonal IgG after prolonged incubation at elevated temperature.* Journal of Chromatography B, 2006. **837**: p. 35-43.
- Sinha, S., L. Zhang, S. Duan, T.D. Williams, J. Vlasak, R. Ionescu and E.M. Topp, *Effect of protein structure on deamidation rate in the Fc fragment of an IgG1 monoclonal antibody.* Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society, 2009. 18: p. 1573-1584.
- 57. Wang, L., G. Amphlett, J.M. Lambert, W. Blättler and W. Zhang, *Structural Characterization of a Recombinant Monoclonal Antibody by Electrospray Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry*. Pharmaceutical Research, 2005. **22**: p. 1338-1349.
- Mamula, M.J., R.J. Gee, J.I. Elliott, A. Sette, S. Southwood, P.-J. Jones and P.R. Blier, *Isoaspartyl Post-translational Modification Triggers Autoimmune Responses to Self-proteins*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1999. 274: p. 22321-22327.
- Mo, J., Q. Yan, C.K. So, T. Soden, M.J. Lewis and P. Hu, Understanding the Impact of Methionine Oxidation on the Biological Functions of IgG1 Antibodies Using Hydrogen/Deuterium Exchange Mass Spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 2016. 88: p. 9495-9502.

- Lam, X.M., J.Y. Yang and J.L. Cleland, Antioxidants for Prevention of Methionine Oxidation in Recombinant Monoclonal Antibody HER2. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 1997. 86: p. 1250-1255.
- Pan, H., K. Chen, L. Chu, F. Kinderman, I. Apostol and G. Huang, *Methionine oxidation in human IgG2 Fc decreases binding affinities to protein A and FcRn.*Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society, 2009. 18: p. 424-433.
- Bertolotti-Ciarlet, A., W. Wang, R. Lownes, P. Pristatsky, Y. Fang, T. McKelvey, Y. Li, Y. Li, J. Drummond, T. Prueksaritanont and J. Vlasak, *Impact of methionine oxidation on the binding of human IgG1 to FcRn and Fcγ receptors*. Molecular Immunology, 2009. 46: p. 1878-1882.
- Yang, J., S. Wang, J. Liu and A. Raghani, Determination of tryptophan oxidation of monoclonal antibody by reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 2007. 1156: p. 174-182.
- Wei, Z., J. Feng, H.-Y. Lin, S. Mullapudi, E. Bishop, G.I. Tous, J. Casas-Finet, F. Hakki, R. Strouse and M.A. Schenerman, *Identification of a Single Tryptophan Residue as Critical for Binding Activity in a Humanized Monoclonal Antibody against Respiratory Syncytial Virus*. Analytical Chemistry, 2007. **79**: p. 2797-2805.
- 65. Liu, D., D. Ren, H. Huang, J. Dankberg, R. Rosenfeld, M.J. Cocco, L. Li, D.N. Brems and R.L. Remmele, *Structure and Stability Changes of Human IgG1 Fc as a Consequence of Methionine Oxidation*. Biochemistry, 2008. **47**: p. 5088-5100.
- Liu, H., G. Gaza-Bulseco, T. Xiang and C. Chumsae, *Structural effect of deglycosylation and methionine oxidation on a recombinant monoclonal antibody*. Molecular Immunology, 2008. 45: p. 701-708.
- Wang, W., J. Vlasak, Y. Li, P. Pristatsky, Y. Fang, T. Pittman, J. Roman, Y. Wang, T. Prueksaritanont and R. Ionescu, *Impact of methionine oxidation in human IgG1 Fc on serum half-life of monoclonal antibodies*. Molecular Immunology, 2011. 48: p. 860-866.
- 68. Dashivets, T., J. Stracke, S. Dengl, A. Knaupp, J. Pollmann, J. Buchner and T. Schlothauer, *Oxidation in the complementarity-determining regions differentially influences the properties of therapeutic antibodies.* mAbs, 2016. **8**: p. 1525-1535.
- 69. Quan, C., E. Alcala, I. Petkovska, D. Matthews, E. Canova-Davis, R. Taticek and S. Ma, A study in glycation of a therapeutic recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody: Where it is, how it got there, and how it affects charge-based behavior. Analytical Biochemistry, 2008. 373: p. 179-191.

- Zhang, B., Y. Yang, I. Yuk, R. Pai, P. McKay, C. Eigenbrot, M. Dennis, V. Katta and K.C. Francissen, Unveiling a Glycation Hot Spot in a Recombinant Humanized Monoclonal Antibody. Analytical Chemistry, 2008. 80: p. 2379-2390.
- Banks, D.D., D.M. Hambly, J.L. Scavezze, C.C. Siska, N.L. Stackhouse and H.S. Gadgil, *The effect of sucrose hydrolysis on the stability of protein therapeutics during accelerated formulation studies*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2009. 98: p. 4501-4510.
- 72. Fischer, S., J. Hoernschemeyer and H.-C. Mahler, *Glycation during storage and administration of monoclonal antibody formulations*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2008. **70**: p. 42-50.
- Gadgil, H.S., P.V. Bondarenko, G. Pipes, D. Rehder, A. McAuley, N. Perico, T. Dillon, M. Ricci and M. Treuheit, *The LC/MS Analysis of Glycation of IGG Molecules in Sucrose Containing Formulations*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2007. 96: p. 2607-2621.
- 74. Goetze, A.M., Y.D. Liu, T. Arroll, L. Chu and G.C. Flynn, *Rates and impact of human antibody glycation in vivo*. Glycobiology, 2012. **22**: p. 221-234.
- Khawli, L.A., S. Goswami, R. Hutchinson, Z.W. Kwong, J. Yang, X. Wang, Z. Yao,
 A. Sreedhara, T. Cano, D.B. Tesar, I. Nijem, D.E. Allison, P.Y. Wong, Y.-H. Kao, C.
 Quan, A. Joshi, R.J. Harris and P. Motchnik, *Charge variants in IgG1*. mAbs, 2010.
 2: p. 613-624.
- Miller, A.K., D.M. Hambly, B.A. Kerwin, M.J. Treuheit and H.S. Gadgil, *Characterization of Site-Specific Glycation During Process Development of a Human Therapeutic Monoclonal Antibody*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2011. 100: p. 2543-2550.
- Butko, M., H. Pallat, A. Cordoba and X.C. Yu, *Recombinant Antibody Color Resulting from Advanced Glycation End Product Modifications*. Analytical Chemistry, 2014. 86: p. 9816-9823.
- 78. Hansson, K. and J. Stenflo., *Post-translational modifications in proteins involved in blood coagulation*. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 2005. **3**: p. 2633-2648.
- Arruda, V.R., J.N. Hagstrom, J. Deitch, T. Heiman-Patterson, R.M. Camire, K. Chu, P.A. Fields, R.W. Herzog, L.B. Couto, P.J. Larson and K.A. High, *Posttranslational modifications of recombinant myotube-synthesized human factor IX*. Blood, 2001. 97: p. 130-138.

- 80. Itoh, S., N. Kawasaki, M. Ohta and T. Hayakawa, *Structural analysis of a glycoprotein by liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry: Application to recombinant human thrombomodulin.* Journal of Chromatography A, 2002. **978**: p. 141-152.
- Campbell, C.T. and K.J. Yarema, *Large-scale approaches for glycobiology*. Genome Biology, 2005. 6: p. 236-236.
- Brooks, S.A., *Appropriate glycosylation of recombinant proteins for human use*. Molecular Biotechnology, 2004. 28: p. 241-255.
- Ceroni, A., K. Maass, H. Geyer, R. Geyer, A. Dell and S.M. Haslam, *GlycoWorkbench: A Tool for the Computer-Assisted Annotation of Mass Spectra of Glycans.* Journal of Proteome Research, 2008. 7: p. 1650-1659.
- Costa, A.R., J. Withers, M.E. Rodrigues, N. McLoughlin, M. Henriques, R. Oliveira, P.M. Rudd and J. Azeredo, *The impact of microcarrier culture optimization on the glycosylation profile of a monoclonal antibody*. SpringerPlus, 2013. 2.
- Jenkins, N., R.B. Parekh and D.C. James, *Getting the glycosylation right: Implications for the biotechnology industry*. Nature Biotechnology, 1996. 14: p. 975-981.
- 86. Luo, X., H. Yang, C. Liang and S. Jin, *Structural characterization of N-linked oligosaccharides of Defibrase from Agikistrodon acutus by sequential exoglycosidase digestion and MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry*. Toxicon, 2010. **55**: p. 421-429.
- Halina, L. and S. Nathan, *Protein glycosylation*. European Journal of Biochemistry, 1993. 218: p. 1-27.
- Steen, P.V.d., P.M. Rudd, R.A. Dwek and G. Opdenakker, *Concepts and Principles of O-Linked Glycosylation*. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 1998. 33: p. 151-208.
- 89. Gabius, H.-J., *The Sugar Code*. 2009, Weinheim: WILEY-VCH.
- 90. Thanka Christlet, T.H. and K. Veluraja, *Database analysis of O-glycosylation sites in proteins*. Biophysical Journal, 2001. **80**: p. 952-960.
- 91. Hang, H.C. and C.R. Bertozzi, *The chemistry and biology of mucin-type O-linked glycosylation*. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 2005. **13**: p. 5021-5034.
- 92. Varki, A., Cummings, R. D., Esko, J. D., Freeze, H. H., Stanley, P., Bertozzi, C. R., Hart, G. W., and Etzler, M. E., *Essentials of Glycobiology* 2nd ed. 2009, New York: Cold Spring Harbor (NY): Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

- 93. Hristodorov, D., R. Fischer, H. Joerissen, B. Müller-Tiemann, H. Apeler and L. Linden, *Generation and Comparative Characterization of Glycosylated and Aglycosylated Human IgG1 Antibodies*. Molecular Biotechnology, 2013. 53: p. 326-335.
- 94. Ghirlando, R., J. Lund, M. Goodall and R. Jefferis, *Glycosylation of human IgG-Fc:* influences on structure revealed by differential scanning micro-calorimetry. Immunology Letters, 1999. 68: p. 47-52.
- 95. Mimura, Y., S. Church, R. Ghirlando, P.R. Ashton, S. Dong, M. Goodall, J. Lund and R. Jefferis, *The influence of glycosylation on the thermal stability and effector function expression of human IgG1-Fc: properties of a series of truncated glycoforms*. Molecular Immunology, 2000. **37**: p. 697-706.
- 96. Houde, D., Y. Peng, S.A. Berkowitz and J.R. Engen, *Post-translational Modifications Differentially Affect IgG1 Conformation and Receptor Binding*. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP, 2010. 9: p. 1716-1728.
- 97. Nose, M. and H. Wigzell, *Biological significance of carbohydrate chains on monoclonal antibodies*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1983. 80: p. 6632-6636.
- 98. Tao, M.H. and S.L. Morrison, Studies of aglycosylated chimeric mouse-human IgG. Role of carbohydrate in the structure and effector functions mediated by the human IgG constant region. The Journal of Immunology, 1989. 143: p. 2595-2601.
- 99. Hristodorov, D., R. Fischer and L. Linden, *With or Without Sugar? (A)glycosylation of Therapeutic Antibodies*. Molecular Biotechnology, 2013. **54**: p. 1056-1068.
- 100. Kayser, V., N. Chennamsetty, V. Voynov, B. Helk and B.L. Trout, Conformational stability and aggregation of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies studied with ANS and Thioflavin T binding. mAbs, 2011. 3: p. 408-411.
- Flynn, G.C., X. Chen, Y.D. Liu, B. Shah and Z. Zhang, *Naturally occurring glycan* forms of human immunoglobulins G1 and G2. Molecular Immunology, 2010. 47: p. 2074-2082.
- 102. Raju, T.S. and R.E. Jordan, *Galactosylation variations in marketed therapeutic antibodies.* mAbs, 2012. **4**: p. 385-391.
- 103. Fang, J., J. Richardson, Z. Du and Z. Zhang, Effect of Fc-Glycan Structure on the Conformational Stability of IgG Revealed by Hydrogen/Deuterium Exchange and Limited Proteolysis. Biochemistry, 2016. 55: p. 860-868.

- Zheng, K., M. Yarmarkovich, C. Bantog, R. Bayer and T.W. Patapoff, *Influence of glycosylation pattern on the molecular properties of monoclonal antibodies*. mAbs, 2014. 6: p. 649-658.
- Lu, Y., K. Westland, Y.-h. Ma and H. Gadgil, *Evaluation of Effects of Fc Domain High-Mannose Glycan on Antibody Stability*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2012. 101: p. 4107-4117.
- 106. Zhou, Q., S. Shankara, A. Roy, H. Qiu, S. Estes, A. McVie-Wylie, K. Culm-Merdek, A. Park, C. Pan and T. Edmunds, *Development of a simple and rapid method for producing non-fucosylated oligomannose containing antibodies with increased effector function*. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 2007. **99**: p. 652-665.
- 107. Wright, A. and S. L. Morrison, Effect of altered CH2-associated carbohydrate structure on the functional properties and in vivo fate of chimeric mouse-human immunoglobulin G1. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1994. 180: p. 1087-1096.
- Wright, A. and S.L. Morrison, Effect of C2-Associated Carbohydrate Structure on Ig Effector Function: Studies with Chimeric Mouse-Human IgG1 Antibodies in Glycosylation Mutants of Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells. The Journal of Immunology, 1998. 160: p. 3393-3402.
- 109. Yu, M., D. Brown, C. Reed, S. Chung, J. Lutman, E. Stefanich, A. Wong, J.-P. Stephan and R. Bayer, *Production, characterization and pharmacokinetic properties of antibodies with N-linked Mannose-5 glycans.* mAbs, 2012. 4: p. 475-487.
- 110. Kanda, Y., T. Yamada, K. Mori, A. Okazaki, M. Inoue, K. Kitajima-Miyama, R. Kuni-Kamochi, R. Nakano, K. Yano, S. Kakita, K. Shitara and M. Satoh, *Comparison of biological activity among nonfucosylated therapeutic IgG1 antibodies with three different N-linked Fc oligosaccharides: the high-mannose, hybrid, and complex types.* Glycobiology, 2007. 17: p. 104-118.
- 111. Goetze, A.M., Y.D. Liu, Z. Zhang, B. Shah, E. Lee, P.V. Bondarenko and G.C. Flynn, *High-mannose glycans on the Fc region of therapeutic IgG antibodies increase serum clearance in humans*. Glycobiology, 2011. 21: p. 949-959.
- 112. Alessandri, L., D. Ouellette, A. Acquah, M. Rieser, D. LeBlond, M. Saltarelli, C. Radziejewski, T. Fujimori and I. Correia, *Increased serum clearance of oligomannose species present on a human IgG1 molecule*. mAbs, 2012. 4: p. 509-520.

- 113. Maeda, E., S. Kita, M. Kinoshita, K. Urakami, T. Hayakawa and K. Kakehi, *Analysis* of Nonhuman N-Glycans as the Minor Constituents in Recombinant Monoclonal Antibody Pharmaceuticals. Analytical Chemistry, 2012. **84**: p. 2373-2379.
- 114. Mimura, Y., P. Sondermann, R. Ghirlando, J. Lund, S.P. Young, M. Goodall and R. Jefferis, *Role of Oligosaccharide Residues of IgG1-Fc in FcγRIIb Binding*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2001. 276: p. 45539-45547.
- 115. Yamaguchi, Y., M. Nishimura, M. Nagano, H. Yagi, H. Sasakawa, K. Uchida, K. Shitara and K. Kato, *Glycoform-dependent conformational alteration of the Fc region of human immunoglobulin G1 as revealed by NMR spectroscopy*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects, 2006. **1760**: p. 693-700.
- 116. Onitsuka, M., A. Kawaguchi, R. Asano, I. Kumagai, K. Honda, H. Ohtake and T. Omasa, *Glycosylation analysis of an aggregated antibody produced by Chinese hamster ovary cells in bioreactor culture*. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 2014. 117: p. 639-644.
- 117. Morell, A.G., G. Gregoriadis, I.H. Scheinberg, J. Hickman and G. Ashwell, *The Role of Sialic Acid in Determining the Survival of Glycoproteins in the Circulation*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1971. 246: p. 1461-1467.
- 118. Raju, T.S., *Terminal sugars of Fc glycans influence antibody effector functions of IgGs*. Current Opinion in Immunology, 2008. **20**: p. 471-478.
- 119. Liu, L., Antibody Glycosylation and Its Impact on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Monoclonal Antibodies and Fc-Fusion Proteins. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2015. 104: p. 1866-1884.
- 120. Chung, C.H., B. Mirakhur, E. Chan, Q.-T. Le, J. Berlin, M. Morse, B.A. Murphy, S.M. Satinover, J. Hosen, D. Mauro, R.J. Slebos, Q. Zhou, D. Gold, T. Hatley, D.J. Hicklin and T.A.E. Platts-Mills, *Cetuximab-Induced Anaphylaxis and IgE Specific for Galactose-α1,3-Galactose*. The New England journal of medicine, 2008. 358: p. 1109-1117.
- 121. Galili, U., Interaction of the natural anti-Gal antibody with α-galactosyl epitopes: a major obstacle for xenotransplantation in humans. Immunology Today, 1993. 14: p. 480-482.
- 122. Matsumiya, S., Y. Yamaguchi, J.-i. Saito, M. Nagano, H. Sasakawa, S. Otaki, M. Satoh, K. Shitara and K. Kato, *Structural Comparison of Fucosylated and Nonfucosylated Fc Fragments of Human Immunoglobulin G1*. Journal of Molecular Biology, 2007. 368: p. 767-779.

- 123. Matsumoto, A., K. Shikata, F. Takeuchi, N. Kojima and T. Mizuochi, *Autoantibody Activity of IgG Rheumatoid Factor Increases with Decreasing Levels of Galactosylation and Sialylation.* The Journal of Biochemistry, 2000. **128**: p. 621-628.
- 124. Naoko, Y.-O., K. Satoko, I.-U. Miho, K. Machi, I. Shigeru, N. Ryosuke, W. Masako, N. Rinpei, S. Mikiko, U. Kazuhisa, S. Kenya and S. Mitsuo, *Establishment of FUT8 knockout Chinese hamster ovary cells: An ideal host cell line for producing completely defucosylated antibodies with enhanced antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity*. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 2004. 87: p. 614-622.
- 125. Shields, R.L., J. Lai, R. Keck, L.Y. O'Connell, K. Hong, Y.G. Meng, S.H.A. Weikert and L.G. Presta, *Lack of Fucose on Human IgG1 N-Linked Oligosaccharide Improves Binding to Human FcyRIII and Antibody-dependent Cellular Toxicity*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2002. 277: p. 26733-26740.
- 126. Junttila, T.T., K. Parsons, C. Olsson, Y. Lu, Y. Xin, J. Theriault, L. Crocker, O. Pabonan, T. Baginski, G. Meng, K. Totpal, R.F. Kelley and M.X. Sliwkowski, *Efficacy of Afucosylated Trastuzumab in the Treatment of HER2-Amplified Breast Cancer*. Cancer Research, 2010. **70**: p. 4481-4489.
- 127. Niwa, R., S. Hatanaka, E. Shoji-Hosaka, M. Sakurada, Y. Kobayashi, A. Uehara, H. Yokoi, K. Nakamura and K. Shitara, *Enhancement of the Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity of Low-Fucose IgG1 Is Independent of FcγRIIIa Functional Polymorphism*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2004. 10: p. 6248-6255.
- 128. Shinkawa, T., K. Nakamura, N. Yamane, E. Shoji-Hosaka, Y. Kanda, M. Sakurada, K. Uchida, H. Anazawa, M. Satoh, M. Yamasaki, N. Hanai and K. Shitara, *The Absence of Fucose but Not the Presence of Galactose or Bisecting N-Acetylglucosamine of Human IgG1 Complex-type Oligosaccharides Shows the Critical Role of Enhancing Antibody-dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003. 278: p. 3466-3473.
- 129. Ratner, M., *Genentech's glyco-engineered antibody to succeed Rituxan*. Nature Biotechnology, 2014. **32**: p. 6-7.
- Beck, A. and J.M. Reichert, *Marketing approval of mogamulizumab*. mAbs, 2012. 4: p. 419-425.
- 131. Xu, X., H. Nagarajan, N.E. Lewis, S. Pan, Z. Cai, X. Liu, W. Chen, M. Xie, W. Wang, S. Hammond, M.R. Andersen, N. Neff, B. Passarelli, W. Koh, H.C. Fan, J. Wang, Y. Gui, K.H. Lee, M.J. Betenbaugh, S.R. Quake, I. Famili, B.O. Palsson and J.

Wang, *The Genomic Sequence of the Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) K1 cell line*. Nature biotechnology, 2011. **29**: p. 735-741.

- Rudd, P.M., R.J. Leatherbarrow, T.W. Rademacher and R.A. Dwek, *Diversification* of the IgG molecule by oligosaccharides. Molecular Immunology, 1991. 28: p. 1369-1378.
- 133. Raju, T.S., J.B. Briggs, S.M. Borge and A.J.S. Jones, Species-specific variation in glycosylation of IgG: evidence for the species-specific sialylation and branch-specific galactosylation and importance for engineering recombinant glycoprotein therapeutics. Glycobiology, 2000. 10: p. 477-486.
- 134. Ahmed, A.A., J. Giddens, A. Pincetic, J.V. Lomino, J.V. Ravetch, L.-X. Wang and P.J. Bjorkman, *Structural characterization of anti-inflammatory Immunoglobulin G Fc proteins*. Journal of molecular biology, 2014. **426**: p. 3166-3179.
- 135. Barb, A.W., L. Meng, Z. Gao, R.W. Johnson, K. Moremen and J.H. Prestegard, NMR characterization of Immunoglobulin G Fc glycan motion on enzymatic sialylation. Biochemistry, 2012. 51: p. 4618-4626.
- 136. Crispin, M., X. Yu and T.A. Bowden, *Crystal structure of sialylated IgG Fc: Implications for the mechanism of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2013. 110: p. E3544-E3546.
- 137. Falck, D., B.C. Jansen, R. Plomp, D. Reusch, M. Haberger and M. Wuhrer, Glycoforms of Immunoglobulin G Based Biopharmaceuticals Are Differentially Cleaved by Trypsin Due to the Glycoform Influence on Higher-Order Structure. Journal of Proteome Research, 2015. 14: p. 4019-4028.
- Shantha, R.T. and S. Bernard, *Fc Glycans Terminated with N-Acetylglucosamine Residues Increase Antibody Resistance to Papain*. Biotechnology Progress, 2007. 23: p. 964-971.
- 139. Boyd, P.N., A.C. Lines and A.K. Patel, The effect of the removal of sialic acid, galactose and total carbohydrate on the functional activity of Campath-1H. Molecular Immunology, 1995. 32: p. 1311-1318.
- 140. Naso, M.F., S.H. Tam, B.J. Scallon and T.S. Raju, *Engineering host cell lines to reduce terminal sialylation of secreted antibodies*. mAbs, 2010. **2**: p. 519-527.
- 141. Kaneko, Y., F. Nimmerjahn and J.V. Ravetch, *Anti-Inflammatory Activity of Immunoglobulin G Resulting from Fc Sialylation*. Science, 2006. **313**: p. 670-673.

- 142. Koide, N., M. Nose and T. Muramatsu, *Recognition of IgG by Fc receptor and complement: Effects of glycosidase digestion*. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 1977. **75**: p. 838-844.
- 143. Egrie, J.C. and J.K. Browne, *Development and characterization of novel erythropoiesis stimulating protein (NESP)*. British Journal of Cancer, 2001. 84: p. 3-10.
- 144. Post-translational Modification of Protein Biopharmaceuticals. 2009, Weinheim: WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

9 List of Peer-Reviewed Publications

Montacir O, Montacir H, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Mahboudi F, Saadati A, Parr MK, Physicochemical Characterization, Glycosylation Pattern and Biosimilarity Assessment of the Fusion Protein Etanercept, Protein J. 37(2), (2018), 164-179. DOI: 10.1007/s10930-018-9757-y

Montacir O, Montacir H, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Mahboudi F, Saadati A, Parr MK, Bioengineering of rFVIIa Biopharmaceutical and Structure Characterization for Biosimilarity Assessment, *Bioengineering (Basel)* 5(1), (2018), 1-16. DOI: 10.3390/bioengineering5010007

Montacir O, Montacir H, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Saadati A, Parr MK, Comparability Study of Rituximab Originator and Follow-on Biopharmaceutical, *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. 140, (2017), 239-251. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpba.2017.03.029

Parr MK, Montacir O, Montacir H, Physicochemical Characterization of Biopharmaceuticals, *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. 130 (**2016**), 366-389. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpba.2016.05.028

10 Abstracts/Posters

Montacir O, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Parr MK, Comparability study of Rituximab originator and follow-on biopharmaceutical, 3rd Biologics & Biosimilars Congress, March 2017, Berlin.

Montacir O, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Parr MK, Physicochemical Comparability between Originator and Biosimilar, American Society of Mass Spectrometry (ASMS), June 2016 San Antonio, TX, USA.

Montacir O, Eravci M, Springer A, Hinderlich S, Parr MK, Comparability study between Biosimilar and Originator, Global Engage 2nd Biologics & Biosimilars Congress, February 2016 Berlin.

11 Curriculum Vitae

"For reasons of data protection, the curriculum vitae is not published in the electronic version" "For reasons of data protection, the curriculum vitae is not published in the electronic version"

12 Declaration

I, Othman Montacir, do hereby declare that I have prepared the present cumulative dissertation independently and without unauthorized assistance. In preparing the dissertation, no other aids than those indicated in the text of this dissertation were used.

A doctoral procedure has never been applied for at another university or department.

Berlin, 30 September 2018

Othman Montacir